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GOALS AND PERFORMANCE MEASURES
Goal E1: All designated electronics available at end-of-life are collected and
processed.
In accordance with the long-term strategic direction of program completeness, performance measures
are set to ensure progress toward this goal to collect and recycle all available, designated electronics at
end-of-life.

Performance Measure E1.1: Total Amount of End-of-life Electronics Processed
Annual targets are set to drive an increase each year in the total amount of end-of-life designated
electronics (EOL) collected and processed to measure progress toward recycling all the material
discarded by Albertans. The targets are set based on the trend of previous years’ results and market
expectations for both the annual sales of designated material and recycled material, and estimated
alternative diversions e.g. corporate take-backs, resale exports and imports.

Targets
1. Total tonnes processed
The total tonnes processed in a year is the actual output of the program each year and is the basis
for the other targets.
2. Amount processed per capita
Presenting the per capita rate provides a better indicator of progress than changes in population.
Additionally, the kg. per capita indicator is useful for comparing the program’s effectiveness with
programs in other jurisdictions.
3. Total Cost per kg.
The total cost for the program includes the cost for collection and processing of material, program
administration and developmental funding e.g. education, and research and development.
Development funding is intended to enhance program effectiveness but is considered over and
above the core program costs and varies substantially year-over-year.
4. Recovery Rate
The recovery rate measures the amount of product processed as a percent of the amount of product
purchased in a year. It is a useful target for tracking trends in changes to the recovery of material
over time – how much of the annual inflow of new electronics is offset by the amount of EOL
electronics removed – indicating whether the effectiveness of the program is increasing, decreasing
or levelling off. However, it should be noted that product sales revenue is an indirect measure of
the amount of materials at end-of-life; older electronic products are not necessarily discarded when
new products are purchased.
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Year

Total
Electronics
Processed
(tonnes)

Kg. per
Capita

Total Cost
per Kg.

Recovery
Rate

2014/15 Result

18,773

4.73

$1.03

47%

2015/16 Result

16,682

4.12

$1.02

53%

2016/17 Result

13,465

3.29

$1.03

43%

2017/18 Result

11,992

2.88

$1.05

37%

2018/19 Result

10,111

2.41

$1.09

34%

2018/19 Target

13,212

3.14

$1.15

42%

Result
1. Total tonnes processed
The result for 2018/19 shows a decrease of 15.7% over the previous year, continuing a trend of
declining recycling volumes in the industry. As fewer older, heavier TVs and monitors are collected
for recycling, these units are being replaced by newer, lighter models. This has significantly reduced
the nature and weight of materials being recycled.
2. Amount processed per capita
The per capita rate decreased in conjunction with the decrease in the amount processed.
3. Total Cost per kg.
The total cost per kg. was almost 4% over the prior year due to spreading the collection, processing,
developmental and administrative costs over a smaller amount of processed material.
4. Recovery Rate
The recovery rate decreased as a result of the weight-based calculation utilized, which is being
heavily impacted by the declining weight of materials in the electronics industry. A unit-based
recovery rate model is under development and is expected to be in place for 2019/20 results.

Supplementary Information: Materials Processed from Recovered Electronics
The following table identifies the types and amounts of material processed from computer equipment
and televisions. These materials are used for feedstock in the manufacturing of new products e.g.
plastics into pellets; steel into rebar; lead recovered from leaded glass through smelting; copper wire
recycled into copper feedstock; precious metals recovered from computer chips.
2018/19 Result
(tonnes)

2017/18 Result
(tonnes)

2016/17 Result
(tonnes)

2015/16 Result
(tonnes)

2014/15 Result
(tonnes)

Glass

2,283

3,219

3,589

5,331

6,765

Plastic

3,810

4,482

5,456

5,694

6,073

Metals

3,562

3,722

3,710

4,818

5,157

Other 1.

456

569

710

839

778

10,111

11,992

13,465

16,682

18,773

Material

Total

1. Includes batteries, toner and inks, wire and cables, and wood.
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Supplementary Information: Disposal of Residual Materials
The following table identifies the amount of residual material disposed of in accordance with methods
acceptable under the program. For example, when markets for wood and toner cartridges are limited,
the material is sent to landfill.
Year

Total Disposed
(tonnes)

Total Processed
(tonnes)

Percent of Total
Processed

2014/15 Result

74

18,773

0.39%

2015/16 Result

88

16,682

0.53%

2016/17 Result

68

13,465

0.50%

2017/18 Result

57

11,992

0.48%

2018/19 Result

31

10,111

0.31%

Goal E2: Ensure Program sustainability by confirming surcharge and funding
rates are appropriate and effectively managed.
Ongoing financial analysis and projections will ensure that the Fund balance (net assets of the program)
is consistent with Board directions, providing for longer term financial stability of the program.

Performance Measure E2.1: Program Sustainability
Ongoing financial analysis includes:
1. Surcharge revenues remitted on the sales of designated electronics;
2. Program expenditures on the collection and processing of designated EOL electronics;
3. Investment earnings and changes in market value;
4. The Fund target and range set by the Board;
5. Potential factors that could impact the Fund balance e.g. changes in technology and product sales,
processing costs, changes in product lifespan, and recovery rates.

Target
1. Provide regular reports against program revenues and expenditure projections.
2. Identify any changes and provide possible adjustment scenarios for surcharge rates (environmental
fees) and/or program funding rates, including timelines and “levelling off” of the Fund balance
(please refer to the graph on page 10).

Results
1. Quarterly financial reports including analysis and projections of revenues and expenditures were
reviewed by the Audit & Investment Committee (A&I) and reported to the Board of Directors.
Following are highlights of revenues and expenditures for the year ending March 31, 2019, from the
Audited Financial Statements. Please see the fund graph on page 10 for historical results.
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1. Overall financial results
The Board of Directors has confirmed its intention to reduce externally restricted net assets in the
electronics program to the Fund Target of $62 million (with a tolerance range of $46.5 million to
$77.5 million) by continuing to approve annual budget deficits until the Fund Target has been
achieved.
The electronics program generated an operating deficit of $2.7 million, which was offset by strong
investment earnings of $4.9 million with a final financial contribution for the year of $2.1 million.
The trend towards lighter electronic units is having a significant impact on the financial results of the
program. As fewer older, heavier TVs and monitors are collected for recycling, these units are being
replaced by newer, lighter models. This has significantly reduced the nature and weight of materials
being recycled and reduced overall recycling expenditures. This trend contributed to the electronics
program generating a smaller operating deficit in 2018/19 than budgeted. The outcome of the
2019/20 Sustainability Review will be instrumental in constructing long term solutions to respond to
lower recycling volumes and reinstate progress towards the Board’s goal of gradually reducing the
Electronics Fund over time.
2. Total recycling revenue
a) No adjustments were made to the environmental fees collected per unit on the sale of
eligible electronics products.
b) Recycling revenues of $8.3 million were 3.4% higher than the prior year, signifying a small
recovery in the sales of electronics products.
3. Total Program expenditures
a) Program incentives remained unchanged during the year.
b) Total recycling expenditures of $9.0 million were -14.3% lower than the previous year,
resulting from the general trend towards lower recycling volumes in the electronics
industry.
c) Total recycling development and Total administration expenditures of $2.0 million were
-13.9% lower than last year. The reduction was primarily a result of fewer and smaller
projects receiving technology upgrade funding during the year. This program has been
expanded to encourage higher utilization in the upcoming year.
4. Net investment income
a) Net investment income of $4.9 million represented strong returns for the portfolio, as
compared to the prior year with $2.4 million in net earnings.

Performance Measure E2.2: Revenue Completeness
Alberta Recycling is authorized by Regulation to identify and register companies supplying designated
electronics in Alberta. This is to ensure that in accordance with the Electronics Recycling Bylaw,
surcharges are collected and remitted on the sale of new electronics. To confirm that these registered
companies (suppliers) comply with the bylaw, compliance reviews are conducted using a risk-based
sampling process based on a Supplier’s revenue profile to select the companies for review.
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Target
1. Suppliers reporting 90% of total program revenue are reviewed over a two-year period.
a) Table A indicates the revenue profile of the suppliers and the frequency of reviews based on
their average monthly surcharge remittance. Higher frequencies are used for larger and
medium-sized suppliers, who represent the majority of program revenue. Small suppliers,
collectively reporting less than 5% of program revenue, do not have a predetermined review
schedule. They are selected through a combined approach of random selection and
identification of suppliers with significant changes in their remittance history.
b) Beginning with 2017/18, Table B indicates the percent of reported revenue to be reviewed
over a two-year period to meet the target of 90%.
TABLE A: SUPPLIER SIZE PROFILE
Average Surcharge
per Month

Percent of
Suppliers

Percent of
Surcharges
Reported

Review
Frequency

Small <$500

91.4%

5.0%

As needed

Medium
$500 - $2,000

5.2%

7.2%

Every three years

Large >$2,000

3.4%

87.8%

Every two years

Total

100%

100%

TABLE B: REVENUE REVIEW
Year

Percent Reviewed of
Total Revenue
Annual Percent
Two-year total
Reviewed
(Target 90%)

2016/17 Result

70%

-

2017/18 Result

32%

102%
(16/17 + 17/18)

2018/19 Result

60%

92%
(17/18 + 18/19)

Result
This performance measure helps to address the goal of providing for longer term financial stability for
the program by verifying that the program is receiving the regulated environmental fees on sales of
eligible products. The percentage reviewed on an annual basis can vary widely depending on the
number of large suppliers that are reviewed in each year, with a goal to review suppliers representing
90% of revenue over each two-year period.
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Supplementary Information: Supplier Registration
On an ongoing basis, Alberta Recycling endeavours to identify and register suppliers selling designated
electronics in or into the province that have not yet registered with the program. These companies are
found either through suppliers already registered with the program or through a Supplier Identification
Project. This identification project, completed every three years by a third-party, involves conducting
research of business listings to identify possible suppliers. The next Supplier Identification Project is
scheduled for 2019/20.

Performance Measure E2.3: Sustainability of Recycling Industry
Verify that the current levels of program funding are adequate to sustain the collection and processing
of EOL electronics within Alberta’s recycling industry.
1. Conduct a comprehensive Sustainability Review at least every three years, to determine if there is a
need to adjust program funding rates. The review is to be comprised of a professional audit of all
processors receiving program funding and an assessment of the financial stability of the processing
industry.
2. In the intervening years, consult with processors to identify and analyze any significant changes
occurring since the program’s last Sustainability Review.

Target
1. The next Sustainability Review is scheduled for 2019/20.

Result
1. The results of the Sustainability Review will be reviewed by the Board during 2019/20 and will help
determine if program funding rates will be adjusted in the long term. This outcome of this review
will also be instrumental in constructing long term solutions to respond to lower recycling volumes
and reinstate progress towards the Board’s goal of gradually reducing the Electronics Fund over
time.
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Goal E3: End-of-life electronics are processed in an environmentally and socially
responsible manner.
Our goal is to process collected electronics to the highest possible provincial environmental standard, to
achieve our commitment to high environmental outcomes outlined in the Mission Statement.

Performance Measure E3.1: Environmental Assurance – Processors
Ensure Processors meet or exceed the Processor Incentive Program Requirements. This includes
compliance with applicable environmental, occupational health and safety regulations as well as
industry standards related to health and safety, and transportation and export.

Targets
1. Annual third-party compliance assurance reviews of all processors are completed in accordance with
the requirements stated above.
2. Third-party desktop or onsite assurance reviews, determined on a case-by case basis, of
downstream processors.
3. Over and above the third-party assurance reviews, processors sites are inspected monthly to
confirm compliance with program requirements e.g. overall site conditions and monitoring of
inventory.
a) If deficiencies are identified, the processors or downstream processors are required to
address them in accordance with approved timelines.
4. The 2019 Compliance Assurance Summary Report is completed and [will be] posted on Alberta
Recycling’s website.

Result
1. The third-party compliance assurance reviews of all processors were completed in accordance with
the requirements of this performance measure.
2. Four onsite assurance reviews were completed of downstream processors. and deficiencies
identified against program requirements were addressed in accordance with approved timelines.
The reviews confirmed that the electronics material was being recycled in an environmentally sound
manner.
3. Processors were inspected regularly which included tracking of eligible and ineligible inventory and
verifying that all required documentation for approved downstream processors and scale calibration
reports were current.
a) Deficiencies related to program requirements were addressed according to approved
timelines.
4. The 2019 Compliance Assurance Summary Report is completed and [will be] posted on Alberta
Recycling’s website.

Performance Measure E3.2: Environmental Assurance - Municipal Collection Sites
Ensure that municipal sites which receive Alberta Recycling grant funding meet or exceed all applicable
environmental standards, consistent with terms of the funding grant.

Target
1. Registered electronics collection sites for municipalities and Indigenous communities are inspected
annually to confirm adherence to the terms of the funding grant, e.g. secure storage of program
material, separation of designated and non-designated material, signage visible to public. If
deficiencies are identified, they are addressed in accordance with approved timelines.
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Result
1. All registered electronics sites were inspected, and deficiencies related to grant funding criteria
were addressed in accordance with approved timelines.

Supplementary Information: Substances of Concern Diverted
The following table identifies substances of concern removed from the total electronics processed, as
reported in E1.1. The weight of each material is calculated by multiplying the estimated amount
contained in a product by the number of those products processed.
Material

Lead (tonnes)
Mercury (kgs.)
Cadmium (kgs.)
Beryllium (kgs.)
Antimony
(tonnes)

Source
Circuit boards, cathode ray
tubes, TVs, monitors, CPU’s,
laptops, and printers.
Lamps, batteries and
switches, laptops
Circuit boards, cathode ray
tubes, insulated wire, TV’s,
monitors and CPU’s
Circuit boards, TV’s and
monitors
Circuit board, CPU’s,
laptops, and printers

2018/19
Result

2017/18
Result

2016/17
Result

279

295

0.28

2015/16 2014/15
Result

Result

341

418

477

0.31

0.27

0.25

0.26

4.08

4.31

4.71

5.63

6.97

11.90

12.60

14.60

17.90

20.40

1.32

1.41

1.47

1.71

1.91

Goal E4: There is strong awareness and support for the Electronics Recycling
Program.
Public, stakeholder and industry awareness and support are critical for the programs.

Performance Measure E4.1: Public Awareness and Support
1. An independent research firm will track:
a) Public awareness of the electronics recycling program and surcharges, and the changes in
levels of awareness and support over time
b) Public support for the electronics recycling program and surcharges, and the changes in
levels of support over time.

Target
1. The target is to maintain current levels of awareness and support for both the program and the
surcharges, and where possible to increase both awareness and support, measured through polling.
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PROGRAM

SURCHARGES

Awareness

Support

Awareness

Support

2014/15 Result

70%

91%

60%

55%

2015/16 Result

70%

89%

55%

53%

2016/17 Result 1.

66%

86%

53%

51%

2017/18 Result

64%

89%

49%

47%

2018/19 Result

52%

85%

49%

47%

2018/19 Target

68%

88%

55%

53%

Year

1. The response scale for support questions was revised from a 10-point scale to a five-point scale in 2017. The purpose of this
change was to simplify the respondent’s selection process and to align with a related survey by Alberta Environment and
Parks. This change may cause some variation to previous results, but the five-point scale will be used from this point
forward.

Result
• Program: support remains strong, but awareness has decreased significantly.
• Surcharges: results are static.
The basis for the targets was the implementation of a digital marketing strategy to raise awareness of
the programs, designated materials and collection sites. The targets were not met with program
awareness experiencing a drop in 12 percentage points. However, awareness of collection sites is high
(see Performance Measure E5.1: Residential Participation and Access) but a direct connection isn’t being
made with the program. The results of this poll will be analyzed in 2019/20 to help develop a
communications road map.

Performance Measure E4.2: Key Stakeholder Support
Key stakeholders are aware of the electronics recycling program and the surcharges, and the levels of
awareness increase over time.

Target
1. Employ a set of public information initiatives for key stakeholders such as provincial and municipal
governments, industry and the general public that will include:
a) Distribution of Progress Report (presents highlights of Annual Report);
b) Distribution of Municipal Collection Site Newsletter;
c) Participation at conferences, tradeshows and community events;
d) 2018 Collection Site Awards of Excellence;
e) Regional meetings with municipalities, waste authorities/commissions, and Indigenous
communities.
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Result
1. Initiatives:
a) The 2018 Progress Report was distributed at all tradeshows, community events, via industry
mailouts and is posted on the website.
b) The Collection Site Newsletter was emailed to all registered collection sites and distributed
at each collection site inspection.
c) Board and administration attended a combination of eight tradeshows and conferences, and
numerous Municipal and Commercial Paint Roundup events.
d) Promotion for the 2018 Collection Site Awards of Excellence winners included print and
social media and a landing page on the website.
e) Board and administration made 12 presentations to the various stakeholder groups
f) To quantify the results of this goal, the concept of a stakeholder satisfaction survey was
devised and will be implemented in 2019/20.

Goal E5: There is strong participation in the collection of electronics for
recycling under the program.
Participation is the basis for higher levels of recovery, which is fundamental to program completeness.

Performance Measure E5.1: Residential Participation and Access
Participation and access to facilities including municipal collection sites, voluntary return-to-retailer and
processors sites for Albertans to recycle their EOL electronics is improving.

Target
1. Increase the level of residential participation for recycling EOL electronics, through increased public
use of registered collection sites, measured by an independent research firm.
2. Communicate the benefits of the collection site grant program to municipalities, and Indigenous
communities that have not yet registered, resulting in an increase in the number of collection sites
thereby providing more opportunities for Albertans to recycle.
Year

Awareness of
Municipal
Collection Sites

Participation
(recycling in
the past year)

Registered
Collections
Sites

2014/15 Result

86%

39%

362

2015/16 Result

88%

39%

361

2016/17 Result

85%

27% 1.

376

2017/18 Result

81%

32%

372

2018/19 Result

84%

29%

365

2018/19 Target

90%

29%

377

1. Participation was down considerably from the previous years which could in part be the
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result of a change in how the question was framed. In 2016/17 the question specifically
asked the respondent if they dropped off computer equipment and TVs in the past year
(items covered by the Program). In previous years the respondent was asked if they dropped
off electronics which could include non-designated products.

Result
1. There continues to be strong awareness of collection sites. The targeted increase in the number of
sites was not met due to the closure of some return-to-retailer locations.
2. Roughly one-in-three Albertans has recycled computer equipment or TVs in the past 12 months
which is statistically consistent with the past two years.
a) Additionally, 28% of those surveyed indicated they have old computers and TVs at home
that are no longer working or that they no longer use.
b) Only 17% indicate the products are still usable. This confirms that there is still hard-to-get
material to be recovered by the program.
3. Communicating benefits of collection site program: completed six Best Practices presentations to
municipal groups, Indigenous communities and at the Solid Waste Association of North America
conference. There was also ongoing communication via emails and phone calls with interested
parties.

Supplementary Information: Proximity to Registered Collection Sites
A third-party analysis was conducted to calculate population coverage for the network of electronics
collection sites. The results indicate, for example, that 95.7% of the rural population live no further than
a 20-minute drive to a collection site. The next project to update proximity is proposed for 2020/21.

Driving Distance – Metro

Population Coverage

15 minutes

95.5%

Driving Distance – Cities
15 minutes

100%

Driving Distance – Rural
20 minutes

95.7%

Supplementary Information: Number of Events in Roundup Program
Electronics roundups provide temporary access to electronics collection opportunities. The inclusion of
used oil and tires in the 2019/20 programs and the increased promotion of events on social media in
2019/20 may see the number of roundups return to previous levels.
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Year

Number of
Roundups

2014/15 Result

84

2015/16 Result

84

2016/17 Result

88

2017/18 Result

74

2018/19 Result

74

Performance Measure E5.2: Industrial, Commercial and Institutional (ICI) Participation
The level of participation by the ICI sector in recycling their EOL electronics through the program is
increasing.

Target
1. Complete phase three and four of the School and Post-Secondary Institution Roundup Grant Pilot.
Encourage the roundup applicants to accept EOL computer equipment and TVs from the ICI sector in
the pilot.
2. Enhance and increase usage by processors of the ICI Roundup Grant to increase ICI recovery.
3. Carry out research to identify ICI electronics which are at EOL but not available to the Alberta
Recycling program as they are handled by asset management or leasing companies, which should be
factored out of the amount available for recovery under the program.
The non-residential tonnage only includes material picked up directly from businesses. It does not
include ICI material dropped off at municipal collection sites (as the source of individual drop offs is not
recorded) and the amount of material leaving the province due to corporate lease and asset
management “take-back” programs is also unknown.
Total Electronics
Processed (Tonnes;
Res. & Non-Res.)

Estimated Non-Res.
Tonnage (Direct
Collection)

Percent of
Total Processed

2014/15 Result

18,773

5,315

28.3%

2015/16 Result

16,682

4,634

27.8%

2016/17 Result

13,465

4,093

30.4%

2017/18 Result

11,992

3,771

31.4%

2018/19 Result

10,111

3,699

36.6%

2018/19 Target

13,212

4,228

32.0%

Year
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Result
1. The focus of the school roundups was mainly on material brought in by students and staff but
towards fiscal year end, social media was used to promote the events as a community opportunity
which may see an impact from ICI in 2019/20.
2. While the ICI Roundup Grant was not heavily utilized by processors, the amount of ICI sourced
material increased by 15% over the prior year.
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GOALS AND PERFORMANCE MEASURES
Goal P1: All designated paint and paint containers available at end-of-life are
collected and processed.
In accordance with the long-term strategic direction of program completeness, performance measures
are set to ensure progress toward this goal to collect and recycle all available, designated paint and
paint containers at end of life.

Performance Measure P1.1: Total Amount of End-of-Life Designated Paint and Containers
Processed
Annual targets are set to drive an increase each year in the total amount of available end-of-life
designated paint and paint containers (leftover paint and containers) collected and processed in
accordance with the estimated amount discarded by Albertans. The targets are set based on the trend
of previous years’ results and market expectations for both the annual sales of designated material and
recycled material.

Targets
1. Total paint processed
The total tonnes processed in a year is the actual output of the program each year and is the basis
for the other targets.
2. Amount processed per capita
Presenting the per capita rate provides a better indicator of progress than changes in population.
Additionally, the kg. per capita indicator is useful to compare the program’s effectiveness with
programs in other jurisdictions.
3. Total Cost per Kg.
The total cost for the program includes the cost for collection and processing of material, program
administration and developmental funding e.g. education, and research and development.
Development funding is intended to enhance program effectiveness but is considered over and
above the core program costs and varies substantially year-over-year.
4. Recovery rate
The recovery rate measures the amount of product processed as a percent of the amount of product
purchased in a year. It is a useful target for tracking trends in changes to the recovery of material
over time - how much of the annual inflow of new paint is offset by the amount of leftover paint
removed - indicating whether the effectiveness of the program is increasing, decreasing or leveling
off.
5. Capture rate
The capture rate measures the total amount processed as a percent of an estimated total amount of
paint considered end-of-life (EOL). Because very little of paint sold is leftover after use, the recovery
rate is very low compared to most other materials, making the capture rate a more useful
performance measure for paint.
Industry estimates that 85-90% of the paint sold is used, leaving 10-15% identified as EOL. For
program reporting, the amount for EOL paint is considered 12%. For example, if 100 litres of paint is
sold, 12 litres (or 12%) will be EOL. If 8 litres is recovered that results in:
• a recovery rate of 8% (8 litres recovered / 100 litres sold); or
• a capture rate of 66.7% (8 litres recovered / 12 litres EOL)
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Year

Total Paint Processed

Kg. per
Capita

Total
Cost
per Kg.

Recovery
Rate

Capture
Rate

Kg.
(millions)

Litres
(millions)

2014/15 Result

3.01

2.51

0.76

$1.54

9.5%

79.0%

2015/16 Result

3.13

2.61

0.77

$1.52

9.2%

76.6%

2016/17 Result

2.67

2.22

0.65

$1.59

9.1%

76.1%

2017/18 Result

2.64

2.20

0.63

$1.65

9.3%

77.9%

2018/19 Result

2.62

2.19

0.62

$1.72

9.5%

78.8%

2018/19 Target

2.77

2.31

0.66

$1.69

10.0%

83.7%

Results
1. The result for 2018/19 shows a small decrease of 0.7% in non-aerosol paint over the previous year,
continuing a trend of declining recycling volumes for this category. The decrease is attributed to
falling sales in Alberta over the past several years; lower paint purchases result in lower volumes of
paint discarded.
2. The per capita rate decreased in conjunction with the decrease in the amount processed.
3. The total cost per kg. was 3.9% over the prior year due primarily to an increase in the recovery of
aerosol paint (see section P1.2 below) and to the cost of two studies completed during the year - a
Sustainability Review and a supplier identification project - that are undertaken approximately every
three years.
4. The recovery rate improved over the prior year. The success of commercial roundups is a key factor
in this increase.

Supplementary Information: Processing of Latex and Oil (Alkyd) Paint
The following table identifies the types and amounts of non-aerosol material processed from products
under the program. The total processed does not include material disposed of as it is tracked in the
Supplementary Information ‘Disposal of Residual Materials’ on page 23.
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Year

Latex Processed
(kg)

Percent of Total
Processed

Oil Processed (kg) –
Energy Recovery

Percent of
Total
Processed

2014/15 Result

1,836,261

61.0%

1,174,087

39.0%

2015/16 Result

1,824,877

58.3%

1,307,277

41.7%

2016/17 Result

1,665,599

62.4%

1,003,200

37.6%

2017/18 Result

1,791,916

67.9%

847,934

32.1%

2018/19 Result

1,752,330

66.8%

870,065

33.2%

Performance Measure P1.2: Total Amount of Aerosol Paint Cans Processed
Annual targets are set to increase the total amount of designated aerosol paint cans collected and
processed under the program in accordance with the estimated amount discarded by Albertans.

Targets
1. Total aerosol paint cans processed
An annual target is set based on forecasts of new paint sales and resulting volumes of unused paint
discarded.
2. Recovery Rate
The recovery rate measures the amount of product processed as a percent of the amount of product
purchased.

Year

Aerosol Paint Cans
Processed

Recovery Rate
Percent

2014/15 Result

515,131

8.9%

2015/16 Result

537,516

11.0%

2016/17 Result

518,182

11.8%

2017/18 Result

628,916

13.5%

2018/19 Result

752,141

16.0%

2018/19 Target

621,818

13.6%

Results
1. The number of cans processed and the corresponding recovery rate have reached their highest
levels since the inception of the paint program in 2008. A combination of factors has contributed to
this result: this was the third year for commercial paint roundups, enabling businesses to drop off
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unlimited amounts of eligible paint products for recycling and an additional processor was approved
to recycle aerosol cans.

Performance Measure P1.3: Total Amount of Paint Containers Processed
Annual targets are set to increase the total amount of designated paint containers collected and
processed under the program in accordance with the estimated amount discarded by Albertans.

Targets
1. Total paint cans processed
An incentive for the recycling of non-aerosol cans was introduced on April 1, 2018, with the
intention of encouraging a higher level of collection and recycling.
It is important to note that the processed amounts do not include containers diverted by
municipalities for scrap metal recycling (see Supplementary Information for Goal P1.3) or those
diverted by downstream paint recyclers.

Metal Containers 1.
(Kg.)

Plastic Containers
(Kg.)

Total
(Kg.)

2014/15 Result

62,189

30,862

93,050

2015/16 Result

80,089

78,715

158,804

2016/17 Result

42,537

99,479

142,016

2017/18 Result

148,273

57,578

205,851

2018/19 Result

228,709

112,857

341,566

Year

1. Includes aerosol paint containers

Results
1. Reported volumes of recycled containers increased significantly for both metal and plastic
containers. This is partly due to the incentive now paid on recycled containers as well as improved
reporting by processors.

Supplementary Information for Goal P1.3: Paint Containers Processed
In 2013/14 surveying began of municipal paint collection sites to track the outcome of empty paint
containers. Over the last four years, the amount of material going to scrap metal from collection sites
has increased while the amount landfilled has decreased from a high of 23% to the current level of 2%.
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2018/19
Result

2017/18
Result

2016/17
Result

2015/16
Result

2014/15
Result

Collected by Processor 1.

26%

26%

27%

29%

23%

Scrap Metal 2.

68%

68%

70%

67%

59%

Collected by Processor
or Scrap Metal

3%

3%

1%

1%

1%

Collected by Processor
or Landfilled

1%

1%

1%

1%

2%

Landfill

2%

2%

1%

2%

15%

TOTAL

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Handling Method

1. Amount included in data table for Performance Measure P1.3
2. Indicates the site recycles metal containers as part of their general scrap metal recycling initiatives.

Supplementary Information for Goal P1: Disposal of Residual Materials
The following table identifies the amount of residual material disposed by methods acceptable under
the program by registered processors, e.g. solidified or contaminated paint and containers. It is
important to note that the disposed amounts do not include low quality materials disposed by
downstream paint recyclers. The fluctuations in the results can be attributed to a combination of
factors including an increase in the amounts of containers recycled, offset by containers that were
unable to be recycled due to the contents being hardened.
Year

Total Disposed
(Kg.)

Total Processed
(Kg.)

Percent of the total processed

2014/15 Result

379,631

3,010,348

12.6%

2015/16 Result

234,292

3,132,154

7.5%

2016/17 Result

387,778

2,668,799

14.5%

2017/18 Result

220,723

2,639,851

8.4%

2018/19 Result

244,141

2,622,395

9.3%

Performance Measure P2.1: Program Sustainability
Ongoing financial analysis includes:
1. Surcharge revenues remitted on the sale of designated paint and paint containers;
2. Program expenditures on the collection and processing of leftover paint and paint containers;
3. The Fund target and range set by the Board and, as the Fund increases, investment earnings and
changes in market value;
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4. Potential impacts of factors that could impact the Fund balance

Target
1. Provide regular reports against the program revenues and expenditures projection.
2. Identify any changes and provide possible adjustment scenarios for surcharges (environmental fees)
and/or program funding rates including timelines and resulting Fund balances (please refer to the
fund graph on page 28).

Result
1. Quarterly financial reports including analysis and projections of revenues and expenditures were
reviewed by the Audit & Investment Committee (A&I) and reported to the Board of Directors.
2. The program was able to generate a narrow, positive return in this fiscal year. However, several
initiatives and important program enhancements remain on hold due to insufficient funding until an
adjustment to surcharge rates is approved through Government regulation.
Following are highlights of revenues and expenditures for the year ending March 31, 2019, from the
Audited Financial Statements. Please see the fund graph on page 28 for historical results.
1. Overall financial results
The Paint program generated a positive operating result of $215,000 for 2018/19. This positive
result allowed externally restricted net assets to grow from $1.39 milliion to $1.51 million.
The program benefited during the year from the resolution of several large Remitter files with
significant balances owing to the program. This resulted in a large, one-time revenue adjustment
that masked overall declines in sales and revenue. Factoring out the adjustment, the Paint program
experienced an operating deficit of roughly $230,000 during the year.
Recycling incentive changes were approved for April 1, 2019 to address the operating deficit and to
ensure the program is able to continue operating in absence of an increase to environmental fees
paid by consumers.
Alberta Recycling continues to advocate for an environmental fee adjustment for the paint program
to address program pressures in the longer term. The program requires a fee increase to sustain
recovery and service levels, and relieve the financial burden placed on municipalities to collect
waste paint.
2. Total recycling revenue
a) No adjustments were made to the environmental fees collected per unit on the sale of
designated paint products.
b) Sales of paint decreased over the prior year; however, reported revenue increased by 4.3%.
The revenue increase is a result of a large one-time adjustment related to the resolution of
several large Remitter files with significant balances owing to the program.
3. Total program expenditures
a) Program incentives remained unchanged from the prior year.
b) Total recycling expenditures of $3.94 million were 3.0% higher than the previous year.
While paint purchases declined over the prior year, recycling expenditures increased as a
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result of an increase in the recovery rate of aerosol paint cans and resulting larger volumes
of aerosol paint cans handled by the program.
c) Total recycling development and Total administration expenditures of $557,000 were 4.6%
higher than the prior year. This variance is largely due to the completion of two studies
which occur every three years in the program.

Performance Measure P2.2: Ensuring Revenue Completeness
Alberta Recycling is authorized by Regulation to identify and register companies supplying designated
paint and paint containers in Alberta. This is to ensure that in accordance with the Paint Recycling
Bylaw, surcharges are collected and remitted on the sale of new paint products. To confirm that these
registered companies (suppliers) comply with the bylaw, compliance reviews are conducted, using a riskbased sampling process based on a Supplier’s revenue profile, to select the companies for review.

Target
1. Suppliers reporting 90% of total program revenue are reviewed over a two-year period.
a) Table A indicates the revenue profile of the suppliers and the frequency of reviews based on
their average monthly surcharge remittance. Higher frequencies are used for larger and
medium sized suppliers, who represent the majority of program revenue. Small suppliers,
collectively reporting less than 2.5% of program revenue, do not have a predetermined
review schedule. They are selected through a combined approach of random selection and
identification of suppliers with significant changes in their remittance history. In future
years, the number of large and medium suppliers will be adjusted to achieve the revenue
coverage target.
b) Beginning with 2017/18, Table B indicates the percent of reported revenue to be reviewed
over a two-year period to meet the target of 90%.
TABLE A: SUPPLIER SIZE PROFILE
Average Surcharge
per Month

Percent of
Suppliers

Percent of
Surcharges
Reported

Review
Frequency

Small <$500

83.3%

2.5%

As needed

Medium
$500 - $2,000

10.1%

4.9%

Every three years

Large >$2,000

6.6%

92.6%

Every two years

Total

100%

100%
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TABLE B: REVENUE REVIEW
Year

Percent Reviewed of
Total Revenue
Annual Percent
Reviewed

Two-year total
(Target 90%)

2016/17 Result

16%

-

2017/18 Result

44%

60%
(16/17 + 17/18)

2018/19 Result

46%

90%
(17/18 + 18/19)

Result
This performance measure helps to address the goal of providing for longer term financial stability for
the program by verifying that the program is receiving the regulated environmental fees on sales of
eligible products. The percentage reviewed on an annual basis can vary widely depending on the
number of large suppliers reviewed each year, with a goal of reviewing Suppliers representing 90% of
revenue over each two-year period. This goal was achieved for 2018/19

Supplementary Information: Supplier Registration
On an ongoing basis, Alberta Recycling endeavours to identify and register businesses selling designated
paint and paint containers in or into the province that have not yet registered with the program. These
companies are found either through suppliers already registered with the program or through a Supplier
Identification Project. This project, completed every three years by a third-party, involves conducting
research of business listings to identify possible suppliers.
In 2018/19 a project was conducted which identified approximately 34 potential suppliers to be
followed up regarding verification for program registration. Out of that number, at year end, 18
remained to be confirmed.

Performance Measure P2.3: Sustainability of Recycling Industry
Verify that the current levels of program funding are adequate to sustain the collection and processing
of waste paint and paint containers within Alberta’s recycling industry.
1. Conduct a comprehensive Sustainability Review at least every three years to determine if there is a
need to adjust program funding rates. The review is to be comprised of a professional audit of all
Processors receiving program funding and an assessment of the financial stability of the processing
industry.
2. In the intervening years, consult with processors to identify and analyze any significant changes
occurring since the program’s last Sustainability Review.

Target
1. Conduct a Sustainability Review in 2018/19.
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Result
A Sustainability Review was completed in 2018/19 which concluded that profitability in the industry had
decreased and had reached a level that was likely unsustainable over time. Paint processors are
supplementing revenue from paint recycling through collection fees charged to municipalities, which
has allowed the processors to maintain some level of profitability. The Sustainability Review concluded
that in order to maintain a relatively healthy level of profitability for paint processors, processor
efficiencies would need to improve and/or recycling incentives would need to be increased.
Due to the financial constraints in the paint program, there are not sufficient resources available to
increase recycling incentives, neither to improve sustainability in the paint recycling industry nor to
alleviate the financial burden placed on municipalities through collection fees charged to them by paint
processors. Work continues to identify and implement efficiency improvements in the industry and to
work towards an increase to environmental fees paid by consumers, in order to ensure long-term
viability for the paint program and to reduce the financial burden on municipalities.
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Goal P3: End-of-life paint and paint containers are recycled in an
environmentally and socially responsible manner.
Our goal is to process collected paint and paint containers to the highest possible provincial
environmental standard, to achieve our commitment to high environmental outcomes outlined in the
Mission Statement.

Performance Measure P3.1: Environmental Assurance - Processors
Ensure that processors meet or exceed the Processor Incentive Program Requirements. This includes
compliance with applicable environmental, occupational health and safety regulations as well as
industry standards related to health and safety, and transportation and export.

Target
1. Processor sites are inspected regularly to confirm compliance with program requirements e.g.
overall site conditions and monitoring of inventory.
2. Conduct facility inspections for downstream processor applications to verify that the process for
managing program material is consistent with the information provided on their application and in
compliance with program requirements.
3. Every three years a comprehensive compliance review is conducted by a third-party to ensure
processor conformance to program requirements. The next review is scheduled for 2018/19.

Result
1. The target for regular inspections of all processor sites was met. This included verifying permits for
approved downstream processors and scale calibration reports are current, separation of eligible
and ineligible inventory and recycling of containers.
2. Inspections of three downstream processing facilities were conducted and no deficiencies were
identified regarding program requirements or their application.
3. The next comprehensive compliance review was rescheduled for 2019/20.

Performance Measure P3.2: Environmental Assurance - Municipal Collection Sites
Ensure that municipal sites which receive Alberta Recycling grants meet or exceed all applicable
environmental standards, consistent with the terms of the funding grant.

Target
1. Municipal collection sites are inspected annually to confirm adherence to program requirements
e.g. secure storage of program material, signage visible to public. If deficiencies are identified, they
are addressed in accordance with approved timelines.

Result
1. All registered paint sites were inspected and deficiencies related to grant funding criteria were
addressed in accordance with approved timelines.

Goal P4: There is strong awareness and support for the Paint Recycling Program.
Public, stakeholder and industry awareness and support are critical to the programs.
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Performance Measure P4.1: Public Awareness and Support
1. An independent research firm will track:
a) Public awareness of the paint recycling program and surcharges, and the changes in levels of
awareness and support over time.
b) Public support for the paint recycling program and the surcharges, and the changes in levels
of support over time.

Target
1. The target is to maintain current levels of awareness and support for both the program and the
surcharges, and where possible to increase both awareness and support, measured through polling.
a) The basis for the targets is the implementation of a digital marketing strategy to raise
awareness of the programs, designated materials and collection sites.

Year

Program

Surcharges

Awareness

Support

Awareness

Support

2014/15 Result

68%

89%

46%

59%

2015/16 Result

71%

86%

46%

61%

2016/17 Result1.

64%

84%

42%

53%

2017/18 Result

59%

82%

42%

54%

2018/19 Result

57%

82%

42%

59%

2018/19 Target

66%

86%

44%

55%

1.

The response scale for support questions was revised from a 10-point scale to a five-point scale in 2017. The
purpose of this change was to simplify the respondent’s selection process and to align with a related survey by
Alberta Environment and Parks. This change may cause some variation to previous results but the five-point
scale will be used from this point forward.

Result
•
•

Program: support remains strong, but awareness continues a downward trend.
Surcharges: awareness is consistently just above the 40% mark (itemization of the surcharge on the
sales receipt is not as prevalent in paint as in the other programs) but support for the surcharges has
increased.
The targets were not met with program awareness continuing a downward trend. While awareness of
collection sites remains high at 84% (see Performance Measure E5.1: Residential Participation and
Access) a direct connection is not being made with the program. The results of this poll will be analyzed
in 2019/20 to help develop a communications road map.

Performance Measure P4.2: Key Stakeholder Support
Key stakeholders are aware of the paint recycling program and the surcharges, and the levels of
awareness increase over time.
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Target
1. Employ a set of public information initiatives for key stakeholders such as provincial and municipal
governments, industry and the general public that will include:
a) Distribution of Progress Report (presents highlights of Annual Report);
b) Distribution of Municipal Collection Site Newsletter;
c) Participation at conferences, tradeshows and community events;
d) 2018 Collection Site Awards of Excellence;
e) Regional meetings with municipalities, waste authorities/commissions, and Indigenous
communities.

Result
1. Initiatives:
a) The 2018 Progress Report was distributed at all tradeshows, community events, via industry
mailouts and is posted on the website.
b) The Collection Site Newsletter was emailed to all registered collection sites and distributed
at each collection site inspection.
c) Board and administration attended a combination of eight tradeshows and conferences, and
numerous Municipal and Commercial Paint Roundup events.
d) Promotion for the 2018 Collection Site Awards of Excellence winners included print and
social media and a landing page on the website.
e) Board and administration made 12 presentations to various stakeholder groups.
f) To quantify the results of this goal, the concept of a stakeholder satisfaction survey was
devised and will be implemented in 2019/20.

Goal P5: There is strong participation in the collection of leftover paint and paint
containers for recycling under the program.
Participation is the basis for higher levels of recovery, which is fundamental to program completeness.

Performance Measure P5.1: Residential Participation and Access
Participation and access to facilities, including municipal collection sites, voluntary return-to-retailer and
processor sites, for Albertans to recycle their paint, paint containers and spray paint cans is improving.

Target
1. Increase the level of residential participation for recycling EOL paint, paint containers and spray
paint cans through collection sites that operate year-round, measured by an independent research
firm.
2. Communicate the benefits of the collection site grant program to municipalities, and Indigenous
communities that have not yet registered.
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Year

Awareness of
Municipal
Collection Sites

Participation
(recycling in
the past year)

Registered
Collection Sites

2014/15 Result

84%

37%

304

2015/16 Result

85%

34%

313

2016/17 Result

82%

30%

321

2017/18 Result

81%

31%

317

2018/19 Result

84%

31%

318

2018/19 Target

84%

32%

333

Result
1. Awareness of collection sites remains high and three in-ten Albertans report recycling paint in the
past 12 months.
a) Additionally, 36% indicated they have leftover paint or empty containers at home and half
of those individuals stated it is because the paint is still usable.
2. Communicating benefits of collection site program: completed six Best Practices presentations to
municipal groups, Indigenous communities and at the Solid Waste Association of North America
conference. There was also ongoing communication via emails and phone calls with interested
parties.

Supplementary Information: Proximity to Registered Collection Sites
A third-party analysis was conducted to calculate population coverage for the network of paint
collection sites. The results indicate, for example, that 95.3% of the rural population live no further than
a 20-minute drive to a collection site. The next project to update proximity is proposed for 2020/21.
Driving Distance
Urban / Rural

Proximity
Urban / Rural

30 min / 45 min

99.3 % / 99.6 %

20 min / 30 min

96.9% / 98.5%

15 min / 20 min

93.6 % / 95.3 %

Supplementary Information: Number of Events in Roundup Program
Paint roundups provide temporary access to paint recycling. The inclusion of used oil and tires in the
2019/20 programs and the increased promotion of events on social media in 2019/20 may see the
number of roundups return to previous levels.
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Year

Number of
Roundups

2014/15 Result

84

2015/16 Result

85

2016/17 Result

85

2017/18 Result

71

2018/19 Result

72

Performance Measure P5.2: Industrial, Commercial and Institutional (ICI) Participation
The level of participation by the ICI sector in recycling their leftover paint and paint containers through
the program is increasing.

Target
1. Increasing ICI participation
a) Continue informal efforts to enhance ICI roundups and collection.
b) Work directly with municipal collection sites that do not accept ICI material volumes to help
address the challenges of accepting paint from the ICI sector through additional collection
initiatives.
i.
Identify geographic gaps in ICI collection coverage and work with individual
municipalities to develop a solution.

Result
1. A total of 33 ICI (commercial) paint roundups were held in eight locations with Calgary and
Edmonton holding monthly events.
a) Attendance doubled over 2017/18 events and planning has begun for 2019/20.
b) 50% of the Municipal Roundup applicants agreed to accept from commercial sources. This
component will be included in the 2019/20 program to continue ensuring that, along with
commercial roundups, the ICI sector is able to drop off their paint if that is their preference,
rather than having to pay for pick up.
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GOALS AND PERFORMANCE MEASURES
Goal T1: All designated tires available at end-of-life are collected and
processed.
In accordance with the long-term strategic direction of Program completeness, performance measures
are set to ensure progress toward the goal to collect and recycle all available, designated tires at end of
life.

Performance Measure T1.1: Total amount of available, End-of-life Tires Processed
Annual targets are set to drive an increasing recovery of end-of-life designated tires (scrap tires) to
measure progress towards recycling of the material discarded by Albertans. The targets are set based
on the trend of previous years’ results and market expectations for both the annual sales of designated
material and recycled material.

Targets
1. Total tires processed
The total tonnes processed in a year is the actual output of the program each year and is the basis
for the target.
2. Amount processed per capita
Presenting the per capita rate provides a better indicator of progress than changes in population.
Additionally, the kg. per capita indicator may be useful to compare the Program’s effectiveness with
programs in other jurisdictions.
3. Total cost per Kg.
The total cost for the program encompasses collecting and processing material, program
administration and developmental funding e.g. education, research and development.
Development funding is intended to enhance Program effectiveness but is considered over and
above the core program costs and varies substantially year-over-year.
4. Recovery Rate
The recovery rate measures the amount of product processed as a percent of the amount of product
purchased in a year. It is a useful target for tracking trends in changes to the recovery of material
over time – how much of the annual inflow of new tires is offset by the amount of scrap tire
removed – indicating whether the effectiveness of the program is increasing, decreasing or levelling
off.
a) The recovery rates for car & light truck tires (PLTT), medium truck tires (MTT), specialty,
industrial and other (SIO) tires are presented separately from off-the-road tires (OTR) as
there is a substantial difference in the discard (lifespan) and collection process, with OTR
resulting in a much lower rate.
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Year

Total Tires
Processed
(Tonnes)

Kg. per
Capita

Total Cost
per Kg.

Recovery
Rate for
PLTT, MTT,
and
SIO Tires

Recovery
Rate
for OTR

2014/15 Result

68,098

17.17

$0.38

84%

29%

2015/16 Result

68,659

16.96

$0.41

96%

77%

2016/17 Result

60,666

14.81

$0.40

87%

79%

2017/18 Result

60,333

14.50

$0.41

82%

30%

2018/19 Result

67,611

16.09

$0.39

87%

65%

2018/19 Target

67,630

16.09

$0.41

83%

55%

Results
1. Total tires processed
This year, sales of new tires began to recover from the lower levels seen in the two years prior.
Increased sales of new tires resulted in rebounding recycling volumes.
2. Amount processed per capita
Kgs. per capita increased in conjunction with the increase in processing.
3. Total cost per Kg.
The total cost is lower than the prior year due to the increase in total tonnes processed, which
spreads developmental and administrative costs over a larger amount of material.
4. Recovery Rate
The recovery rate for PLTT, MTT and SIO increased to 87% as a result of high collection rates and
strong demand for the material. The recovery rate for OTR varies widely from year to year due to
fluctuations in activity for the projects that use this material, with a higher level of activity
generating a strong result of 65% for 2018/19.

Supplementary Information: Amount Processed by Tire Type
Year

PLTT and SIO Tires
(Tonnes)

MTT
(Tonnes)

OTR
(Tonnes)

2014/15 Result

42,083

22,916

3,098

2015/16 Result

39,975

23,339

5,345

2016/17 Result

34,679

21,502

4,485

2017/18 Result

37,617

20,354

2,362

2018/19 Result

40,394

21,987

5,230
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Supplementary Information: Processed Material
The following table identifies the recycled materials processed from scrap tires - manufactured product,
rubber crumb and shred - as a percent of the total amount of tires processed.

End Use
Material

2018/19
Result
Tonnes
Percent
of Total
Processed

2017/18
Result
Tonnes
Percent of
Total
Processed

2016/17
Result
Tonnes
Percent of
Total
Processed

2015/16
Result
Tonnes
Percent of
Total
Processed

2014/15
Result
Tonnes
Percent
of Total
Processed

Crumb1

37,924

56%

32,507

54%

39,593

66%

39,366

57%

37,585

55%

Tire-derived
aggregate (TDA)
for civil
engineering
projects2

28,559

42%

17,527

29%

13,597

22%

20,933

31%

21,122

31%

Mulch3

1,128

2%

10,299

17%

7,476

12%

8,360

12%

6,306

9%

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

3,085

5%

67,611

100%

60,333

100%

60,666

100%

68,659

100%

68,098

100%

Whole tires and
TDA for energy
recovery4
TOTAL

1. Crumb: Particles of rubber ground from shred, ranging in size from pea-gravel (#3 mesh) to fine powder,
with the steel and fibre removed. Uses for crumb include loose applications such as infill or top dressing in
sports fields and as feedstock for manufactured products.
2. TDA for civil engineering applications: A value-added material in municipal landfill projects where it is
used as drainage material in leachate collection systems. TDA is produced by mechanically cutting up tires,
usually in 2” to 6” pieces, with the steel and fibre still embedded.
3. Mulch: Tires processed in maximum 2” pieces with the metal extracted. Mulch is used in landscaping
applications. Note: Mulch production was significantly reduced at one of the processor sites for most of the
year which shifted significant volumes scrap tires into TDA production.
4. TDA and whole tires used in energy recovery process: Used as an alternate source of fuel. This end use is
not an approved ongoing application in the program but is approved by Alberta Recycling’s Board of
Directors on a case-by-case basis where necessary to avoid build-up of inventory at processor or municipal
sites.

Supplementary Information: Disposal of Residual Materials
The following table identifies the residual material e.g. fibre and steel extracted during mulch and crumb
(mainly from PLTT) processing which is disposed of in accordance with program-acceptable methods.
Generally, the steel can be recycled. End-use opportunities fluctuate for fibre therefore when options
are limited the material is sent to landfill.
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Year

Total Disposed
(tonnes)

Total Processed
(tonnes)

Percent of Total
Processed

2014/15 Result

6,2351.

68,098

9.16%

2015/16 Result

2,215

68,659

3.23%

2016/17 Result

3,181

60,666

5.24%

2017/18 Result

2,538

60,333

4.21%

2018/19 Result

2,645

67,611

3.91%

1. 2014/15 saw an increase in crumb production and the introduction of mulch which together generated a significant amount
of fibre for disposal.

Goal T2: Ensure Program sustainability by confirming Surcharge and funding
rates are appropriate and effectively managed.
Ongoing financial analysis and projections will ensure that the Fund balance (net assets of the Program)
is consistent with Board directions, providing for longer term financial stability of the Program.

Performance Measure T2.1: Program Sustainability
Ongoing financial analysis including:
1. Surcharge revenues remitted on the sale of designated tires;
2. Program expenditures on the collection and processing of scrap tires;
3. Investment earnings and changes in market value;
4. The Fund target and range set by the Board;
5. Potential factors that could impact the Fund balance e.g. changes in technology, processing costs,
product life span changes and recovery rates.

Targets
1. Provide regular reports against program revenues and expenditures projection.
Identify any changes and provide possible adjustment scenarios for surcharge rates (environmental
fees) and/or program funding rates, including timelines and resulting Fund balance (please refer to
the fund graph on page 42).

Results
1. Quarterly financial reports including analysis and projections of revenues and expenditures were
reviewed by the Audit & Investment Committee (A&I) and reported to the Board of Directors.
Following are highlights of revenues and expenditures for the year ending March 31, 2019, from the
Audited Financial Statements. Please see the fund graph on page 42 for historical results.
1. Overall financial results
Operating revenue and expenditures for the Tire program were very closely matched with a nominal
positive financial result of $9,000. The final financial result of a positive $1.0 million was therefore
generated entirely through strong investment earnings of $1.0 million.
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2. Total recycling revenue
a) No adjustments were made to the environmental fees collected per unit on the sale of
designated tires.
b) Total recycling revenue of $26.2 million were 3.9% higher than the prior year due to
stronger new tires sales.
3. Total program expenditures
a) Program incentives remained unchanged from the prior year. Total recycling expenditures
of $22.7 million were 8.2% higher than the previous year. Overall processing volume
increased by 12.1%, driven by increasing collection volumes as more tires were replaced and
discarded by consumers during the year, and strong demand for recycled tire material.
b) Total recycling development and Total administration expenditures of $3.5 million were
-4.7% lower than the previous year. The largest component of the decrease was in banking
fees, resulting from a decision to discontinue the acceptance of credit card payments from
Remitters due to the high credit card processing fees.

Performance Measure T2.2: Ensuring Revenue Completeness
Alberta Recycling is authorized by Regulation to identify and register companies supplying designated
tires in Alberta. This is to ensure that in accordance with the Tire Recycling Bylaw, surcharges are
collected and remitted on the sale of new tires. To confirm that these registered companies (Suppliers)
comply with the bylaw, compliance reviews are conducted, using a risk-based sampling process based
on a Supplier’s revenue profile, to select the companies for review.

Target
1. Suppliers reporting 70% of total program revenue are reviewed over a two-year period.
a) Table A indicates the revenue profile of the suppliers and the frequency of reviews based on
their average monthly surcharge remittance. Higher frequencies are used for larger and
medium sized suppliers who represent the majority of program revenue. Small suppliers,
collectively reporting less than 14% of program revenue, do not have a predetermined
review schedule. They are selected through a combined approach of random selection and
identification of suppliers with significant changes in their remittance history.
b) Beginning with 2017/18, Table B indicates the percent of reported revenue to be reviewed
over a two-year period to meet the target of 70%.
TABLE A: SUPPLIER SIZE PROFILE
Average Surcharge
per Month

Percent of
Suppliers

Percent of
Surcharges
Reported

Review
Frequency

Small <$1,000

77%

17%

As needed

Medium
$1,000 - $2,500

16%

23%

Every three years

Large >$2,500

7%

60%

Every two years

100%

100%

Total
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TABLE B: REVENUE REVIEW
Year

Percent Reviewed of
Total Revenue
Annual Percent
Two-year total
Reviewed
(Target 70%)

2016/17

11%

-

2017/18 Result

32%

43%
(16/17 + 17/18)

2018/19 Result

55%

87%
(17/18 + 18/19)

Result
This performance measure helps to address the goal of providing for longer term financial stability for
the program by verifying that the program is receiving the regulated environmental fees on sales of
eligible products. The percentage reviewed on an annual basis can very widely depending on the
number of large suppliers reviewed each year, with a goal of reviewing suppliers representing 70% of
revenue over each two-year period. This goal was exceeded for 2018/19 and was facilitated in part by
joint reviews conducted on behalf of members of the Canadian Association of Tire Recycling Agencies.

Supplementary Information: Supplier Registration
On an ongoing basis, Alberta Recycling endeavours to identify and register businesses selling designated
tires in or into the province that have not yet registered with the program. These companies are found
either through suppliers already registered with the program or through a supplier Identification
Project. This project, completed every three years by a third-party, involves conducting research of
business listings to identify possible suppliers. The next identification project is scheduled for 2020/21.

Performance Measure T2.3: Sustainability of Recycling Industry
Verify that the current levels of program funding are adequate to sustain the collection and processing
of scrap tires within Alberta’s recycling industry.
1. Conduct a comprehensive Sustainability Review at least every three years to determine if there is a
need to adjust program funding rates. The review is to be comprised of a professional audit of all
processors receiving program funding and an assessment of the financial stability of the processing
industry.
2. In the intervening years, consult with processors to identify and analyze any significant changes
occurring since the program’s last Sustainability Review.

Target
1. The Board will review the results of the 2017/18 Sustainability Review to determine if adjustments
are required to program funding rates.

Result
The Board approved several incentive changes for implementation in 2019/20 based on the results of
the Sustainability Review, the Small Load Pilot Project and administrative considerations.
Transportation incentives were increased whiles several processing incentives were decreased to
Alberta Recycling Management Authority | 2018-19 Annual Report

40

establish a balanced approach for TDA, crumb and mulch products, with TDA benefiting municipalities,
and crumb benefiting the numerous Municipal Demonstration Projects across the province.
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Goal T3: Scrap tires are processed in an environmentally and socially
responsible manner.
Our goal is to process collected tires to the highest possible provincial environmental standard, to
achieve our commitment to high environmental outcomes outlined in the Mission Statement.

Performance Measure T3.1: Environmental Assurance - Processors
Ensure that processors meet or exceed the Processor Incentive program Requirements. This includes
compliance with applicable environmental, occupational health and safety regulations as well as
industry standards related to health and safety, and transportation and export. This is to ensure proper
collection and processing of material.

Target
1. Processor sites are inspected monthly to confirm compliance with program requirements e.g. state
of the overall site conditions and monitoring of inventory.
2. If deficiencies are identified, processors are required to address them in accordance with approved
timelines.
3. Every three years a comprehensive compliance review is conducted by a third-party to ensure
Processor conformance to program requirements. The next review is scheduled for 2018/19.

Result
1. The target for monthly inspections of all processors was met. Inspections included tracking of
inventory; adherence to the Alberta Fire Code for storage of material; and verifying that reports for
fire code inspections completed by local authorities and scale calibration were current.
2. Deficiencies related to program requirements were addressed according to approved timelines.
Additionally, quality control inspections of TDA material were regularly conducted at the processor
sites, inspecting material bound for municipal leachate collection projects and at the point of
delivery.
3. The comprehensive compliance review was rescheduled to 2019/20.

Performance Measure T3.2: Environmental Assurance - Municipal Collection Sites
Ensure that municipal sites which receive Alberta Recycling grant meet or exceed all applicable
environmental standards, consistent with terms of the funding grant.

Target
1. Municipal Collection Sites are inspected annually to confirm adherence to the terms of the funding
grant, e.g. secure storage of program material, signage visible to public, etc. If deficiencies are
identified, they are addressed in accordance with approved timelines.

Result
1. All registered tire sites were inspected, and deficiencies related to grant funding criteria were
addressed in accordance with approved timelines.

Goal T4: There is strong awareness and support for the Tire Recycling Program.
Public, stakeholder and industry awareness and support are critical to the program.
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Performance Measure T4.1: Public Awareness and Support
1. An independent research firm will track:
a) Public awareness of the tire recycling program and surcharges, and the changes in levels of
awareness and support over time.
b) Public support for the tire recycling program and the Surcharges, and the changes in levels
of support over time.

Target
1. The target is to maintain current levels of awareness and support for both the program and the
Surcharges, and where possible to increase both awareness and support, measured through polling.

PROGRAM

SURCHARGES

Awareness

Support

Awareness

Support

2014/15 Result

62%

90%

66%

60%

2015/16 Result

72%

86%

70%

64%

2016/17 Result 1.

61%

87%

64%

61%

2017/18 Result

65%

83%

65%

60%

2018/19 Result

61%

83%

64%

62%

2018/19 Target

63%

89%

66%

63%

1. The response scale for support questions was revised from a 10-point scale to a five-point scale in 2017. The purpose was to
simplify the respondent’s selection process and to align with a related survey by Alberta Environment and Parks. This change
has caused some variation to previous results.

Result
The basis for the targets was the implementation of a digital marketing strategy to raise awareness of
the programs, designated materials and collection sites. The only target that was met was support for
the program, however, the rate is still over 80%.
• Program: six-in-ten Albertans are aware of the program.
• Surcharges: nearly 2/3 of Alberta are aware of the surcharges and support for them remains stable.

Performance Measure T4.2: Key Stakeholder Support
Key stakeholders are aware of the tire recycling program and the surcharges, and the levels of
awareness increase over time.

Target
1. Employ a set of public information initiatives for key stakeholders such as provincial and municipal
governments, industry and the general public that will include:
a) Distribution of Progress Report (presents highlights of Annual Report);
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b)
c)
d)
e)

Distribution of Collection Site Newsletter;
Participation at conferences, tradeshows and community events;
2018 Collection Site Awards of Excellence;
Regional meetings with municipalities, waste authorities/commissions, and Indigenous
communities.

Result
1. Initiatives:
a) The 2018 Progress Report was distributed at all tradeshows, community events, via industry
mailouts and is posted on the website.
b) The Collection Site Newsletter was emailed to all registered collection sites and distributed
at each collection site inspection.
c) Board and administration attended a combination of eight tradeshows and conferences, and
numerous Municipal and Commercial Paint Roundup events.
d) Promotion for the 2018 Collection Site Awards of Excellence winners included print and
social media and a landing page on the website.
e) Board and administration made 12 presentations to various stakeholder groups.
f) To quantify the results of this goal, the concept of a stakeholder satisfaction survey was
devised and will be implemented in 2019/20.
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GOALS AND PERFORMANCE MEASURES
Special note: On October 1, 2018, the Government of Alberta transferred management of the
Used Oil Materials Recycling Program from the Alberta Used Oil Management Association
(AUOMA) to Alberta Recycling. We are therefore reporting on six months of operation, after
the transition from AUOMA, to March 31, 2019.

Goal UO1: All designated oil, oil filters and oil containers available at end-of-life
are collected and processed.
In accordance with the long-term strategic direction of Program completeness, performance measures
are set to ensure progress toward this goal to collect and recycle all available, designated oil, oil filters
and oil containers at end-of-life.

Performance Measure UO1.1: Total Amount of End-of-Life Designated Oil Processed
Annual targets are set to drive a consistently high recovery each year of available end-of-life designated
oil (used oil) collected and processed in accordance with the estimated amount discarded by Albertans.
The targets are set based on the trend of previous years’ results and market expectations for both the
annual sales of designated material and recycled material.

Targets
1. Total amount of used oil processed
Prior to the transition to Alberta Recycling on October 1, 2018, the used oil program under the
AUOMA reported volumes processed in litres. This Annual Report presents the figures both in litres
to allow for consistency with historical reporting under AUOMA, and in kgs. to determine kg. per
capita for consistency with the reporting of Key Performance Indicators used in Alberta Recycling’s
other programs, and generally in recycling programs across Canada.
The total amount processed in a year is the actual amount of material processed through the
Program, and is used to calculate the forecast, target and projections.
2. Amount processed per capita
Presenting the per capita rate provides a better indicator of progress than changes in population.
Additionally, the kgs. per capita indicator may be useful to compare the program’s effectiveness
with programs in other jurisdictions.
3. Capture Rate
The capture rate measures the total amount processed as a percent of an estimated total amount of
oil considered end-of-life (EOL). Because a portion of oil sold is consumed in use, this results in a
lower recovery rate for used oil as compared to other materials and makes the capture rate a more
useful performance measure. Industry estimates that 35.5% of oil sold is consumed during use,
leaving 64.5% identified as EOL. For program reporting, the amount for EOL oil will be calculated at
64.5% of the amount sold.
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Year

Total Used Oil Processed
Litres
(millions)

Kg.
(millions)

Kg. per
Capita

Capture
Rate

2015 Result (Jan - Dec) 1.

95.37

82.97

20.49

85.5%

2016 Result (Jan - Dec) 1.

86.12

74.92

18.29

87.0%

2017 Result (Jan - Dec) 1.

89.91

78.23

18.80

84.3%

2018/19 Result 2., 3.
(Apr/18 - Mar/19)

84.49

73.50

17.49

76.6%

1.
2.

3.

AUOMA results;
Alberta Recycling’s fiscal year of April 1 to March 31 differs from AUOMA’s which was January 1 –
December 31. There is a three-month stub period from January 1, 2018 to March 31, 2018 which
resulted from the shift in fiscal year. It is not displayed in this table but is included in the cumulative
results of the program. The results of the program under AUOMA from January 1, 2018 to September
30, 2018 is available upon request.
Alberta Recycling results.

Results
1. Effective January 1, 2018, a change was implemented by AUOMA to the methodology for paying
Return Incentives on used oil. Prior to this change, a small amount of water content was included in
the processed weight and received incentives under the program. Effective with the change, no
water content is included in the processed weight. As a result, the processed volumes and capture
rate for oil is expected to be lower but more accurate from 2018/19 forward, compared to 2015-17.

Performance Measure UO1.2: Total Amount of Oil Filters Collected
Annual targets are set to increase the total amount of designated oil filters collected and processed
under the program in accordance with the estimated amount discarded by Albertans.

Targets
1. The total volume collected in a year is the actual output of the program, and the basis for the
forecast, target and projections.
2. The recovery rate measures the amount of product collected as a percent of the amount of product
purchased.
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Kg.
(millions)

Kg. per
Capita

Recovery
Rate

2015 Result (Jan - Dec) 1.

5.11

1.26

86.7%

2016 Result (Jan - Dec) 1.

4.67

1.14

87.3%

2017 Result (Jan - Dec) 1.

4.78

1.15

87.0%

2018/19 Result 2., 3.
(Apr/18 - Mar/19)

4.50

1.07

81.0%

1.
2.

3.

AUOMA results;
Alberta Recycling’s fiscal year of April 1 to March 31 differs from AUOMA’s which was
January 1 – December 31. There is a three-month stub period from January 1, 2018 to
March 31, 2018 which resulted from the shift in fiscal year. It is not displayed in this
table but is included in the cumulative results of the program. The results of the
program under AUOMA from January 1, 2018 to September 30, 2018 is available upon
request.
Alberta Recycling results.

Results
The recovery rates of filters for 2018/19 is lower than for the years 2015-17. Two primary factors being:
a) Over time the construction of filters and the materials used in them have become increasing
difficult to recycle and fewer processors are now accepting filters for recycling.
b) Effective January 1, 2018, AUOMA implemented a change to the methodology for paying Return
Incentives on filters. Prior to this change, the program paid on collected weight including
contamination or non-program material. The non-program materials are now removed from
the collected volume, so the incentives are paid only on the weight of filters. While this change
does not impact the methodology for calculating the collected volume, it has removed any
unintentional incentive for non-program materials to be placed in the drums of filters collected
for processing. As a result, the calculated recovery rate for filters is expected to be slightly
lower but more accurate from 2018 forward, as compared to 2015-17.

Performance Measure UO1.3: Total Amount of Oil Containers Collected
Annual targets are set to increase the total amount of designated oil containers collected and processed
under the program in accordance with the estimated amount discarded by Albertans.

Targets
1. The total volume collected in a year is the actual output of the program, and the basis for the
forecast, target and projections.
2. The recovery rate measures the amount of product collected as a percent of the amount of product
sold.
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Kg.
(millions)

Kg. per
Capita

Recovery
Rate 4.

2015 Result (Jan - Dec) 1.

2.27

0.56

90.3%

2016 Result (Jan - Dec) 1.

2.17

0.53

93.3%

2017 Result (Jan - Dec) 1.

2.56

0.61

106.3%

2018/19 Result 2., 3.
(Apr/18 - Mar/19)

2.30

0.55

94.1%

1.
2.

3.
4.

AUOMA results;
Alberta Recycling’s fiscal year of April 1 to March 31 differs from AUOMA’s of
January 1 – December 31. The stub period of January 1, 2018 to March 31, 2018
resulting from the shift in fiscal year is not displayed in this table but is included in
the life-to-date results of the used oil program. The results of the program under
AUOMA for January 1, 2018 to September 30, 2018 is available upon request.
Alberta Recycling results.
Note that the Recovery Rate may exceed 100%. The Used Oil program has
historically collected and recycled non-program automotive plastic containers (e.g.
windshield washer fluid) that do not collect a surcharge, resulting in larger
processing volumes than volumes sold of eligible material.

Results
The recovery rate for containers for 2018/19, while lower than the 2017 results, is in line with results
seen in 2015 and 2016.

Performance Measure UO1.4: Total Cost per Kilogram
Annual projections for the total cost per kg. are calculated based on the trend of previous years’
collected and processed volumes, and expectations for administrative and developmental funding.
1. Combined total cost per kg. for used oil, filters and containers
The total cost for the program encompasses collecting and processing material, program
administration and developmental funding e.g. education, and research and development.
Development funding is intended to enhance program effectiveness but is considered over and
above the core program costs and varies substantially year-over-year.
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Total kg. processed used oil, filters, containers
(millions)

Total Cost
per Kg.

2015 Result (Jan - Dec) 1.

117.06

$0.15

2016 Result (Jan - Dec) 1.

105.87

$0.14

2017 Result (Jan - Dec) 1.

110.74

$0.15

2018/19 Result 2 & 3.
(Apr/18 - Mar/19)

103.96

$0.15

1.
2.

3.

AUOMA results;
Alberta Recycling’s fiscal year of April 1 to March 31 differs from AUOMA’s of January 1 –
December 31. The stub period of January 1, 2018 to March 31, 2018 resulting from the shift
in fiscal year is not displayed in this table.
Combined forecast of AUOMA and Alberta Recycling;

Results
1. The 2018/19 cost per kg. was similar to the results seen from 2015-2017. Note that this cost per kg.
excludes costs incurred by both AUOMA and Alberta Recycling in order to facilitate the program
transfer effective October 1, 2018.

Goal UO2: Ensure Program sustainability by confirming Surcharge and funding
rates are appropriate and effectively managed.
Ongoing financial analysis and projections will ensure that the Fund balance is consistent with Board
directions, providing for longer term financial stability of the program.

Performance Measure UO2.1: Program Sustainability
Ongoing financial analysis includes:
1. Surcharge revenues remitted on the sale of designated oil materials;
2. Program expenditures on the collection and processing of used oil, filters and containers;
3. Fund target and range to be set by the Board and, as the Fund increases, investment earnings and
changes in market value;
4. Potential impacts of factors that could impact the Fund balance.

Targets
1. Provide regular reports against the Program revenues and expenditures projection.
2. Identify any changes and provide possible adjustment scenarios for surcharges (environmental fees)
and/or Program funding rates including timelines and resulting Fund balances (please refer to the
revenue and expenditure graph and the fund graph on pages 54 and 55).

Results
1. Quarterly financial reports including analysis and projections of revenues and expenditures were
reviewed by the Audit & Investment Committee (A&I) and reported to the Board of Directors.
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Following are highlights of revenues and expenditures for the year ending March 31, 2019, from the
Audited Financial Statements. Please see the revenue and expenditure graph and the fund graph on
pages 54 and 55 for historical results.
1. Overall financial results
The Used Oil program generated a positive operating result of $460,000 for the first six months of
operation under Alberta Recycling, with an additional positive result from the investment portfolio
of $130,000 for an overall result of $590,000.
2. Total recycling revenue
a) No adjustments were made to the environmental fees collected per unit on the sale of
eligible oil products. These rates were established by the AUOMA prior to transfer of the
program to Alberta Recycling, and are set at the maximum as defined by the Regulation.
b) Recycling revenues were $7.8 million for six months of operation, with reported unit sales of
oil products -2.7% lower than for the same period in the prior year.
3. Total Program expenditures
a) Program incentives remained unchanged from the rates established by AUOMA on January
1, 2018, prior to the transfer of the program to Alberta Recycling.
b) Total recycling expenditures were $6.7 million for the first six months of operation under
Alberta Recycling. Processed volumes were -6.5% lower as compared to the same six-month
period in the prior year (under AUOMA).
c) Total recycling development and Total administration expenditures were $700,000 for the
six-month period reported.
4. Net investment income
a) Net investment income of $130,000 represented strong returns for the portfolio, as the
long-term investment accounts were in place for only the final two months of the six-month
period.

Performance Measure UO2.2: Ensuring Revenue Completeness
Alberta Recycling is required by Regulation to identify and register companies supplying designated oil
materials in Alberta. This is to ensure that in accordance with the Used Oil Recycling Bylaw, surcharges
are collected and remitted on the sale of new oil materials. For the used oil materials program all
Remitters must register with the program and are typically reviewed within each three-year window,
using joint compliance reviews in cooperation with used oil material programs in other provinces.

Target
All or substantially all remitters will be reviewed at least once in a three-year period.
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TABLE A: SUPPLIER SIZE PROFILE
Average Surcharge
per Quarter

Percent of
Suppliers

Percent of
Surcharges
Reported

Review
Frequency

Small e.g. <$5,000

69.8%

3.3%

Every three years

Medium e.g.
$5,000 - $25,000

14.9%

9.3%

Every three years

Large e.g. >$25,000

15.3%

87.4%

Every three years

Total

100%

100%

Results
Ninety Alberta Recycling-registered suppliers (out of 246) were selected for EHC compliance reviews.

Supplementary Information: Supplier Registration
On an ongoing basis, Alberta Recycling endeavors to identify and register businesses selling designated
oil materials in or into the province. These companies are found either through suppliers already
registered with the program or through a Supplier Identification Project. This project, completed every
three years by a third-party, involves conducting research of business listings to identify possible
suppliers. The first identification project is scheduled for 2020/21.

Performance Measure UO2.3: Sustainability of Recycling Industry
Verify that the current levels of Program funding are adequate to sustain the collection and processing
of used oil materials within Alberta’s recycling industry.
1. Conduct a comprehensive Sustainability Review at least every three years to determine if there is a
need to adjust program funding rates. The review is to be conducted by an external financial expert
of a sample of processors receiving program funding to provide an assessment of the financial
stability of the processing industry.
2. In the intervening years, consult with processors to identify and analyze any significant changes
occurring since the program’s last Sustainability Review.

Target
1. Schedule and complete the first sustainability review for registered processors under Alberta
Recycling’s management of the used oil materials recycling program within the first three years of
operation.

Results
A sustainability review for registered processors under Alberta Recycling’s management of the used oil
materials recycling program is tentatively scheduled for 2020/21. As this will be the first sustainability
review completed in the used oil program, it is expected to provide invaluable insight into this industry
and the structure of the recycling incentives paid by the program.
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Goal UO3: End-of-life used oil materials are recycled in an environmentally and
socially responsible manner.
Our goal is to process collected used oil materials to the highest possible environmental standard as
outlined in the Mission Statement.

Performance Measure UO3.1: Environmental Assurance - Processors
Ensure that processors meet or exceed the Processor Incentive Program Requirements, currently
referred to as the Manual for Registered Collectors and Processors. This includes compliance with
applicable environmental, occupational health and safety regulations as well as industry standards
related to health and safety, and transportation and export.

Targets
1. The following tasks will be phased in pending the development and implementation of a Registered
Oil Materials Processor Incentive Requirements document and other related procedures:
a) Regular inspection of processor sites to confirm compliance with program requirements.
b) Third-party desktop or onsite assurance reviews of downstream processors; determined on
a case-by-case basis.
c) A comprehensive compliance review conducted by a third-party to ensure processor
conformance to program requirements.

Results
1. The processor incentive requirements document and other related material is in development and
will be completed in 2019/20. Site visits and series of meetings continue to be held with processors
to facilitate this process.

Performance Measure UO3.2: Environmental Assurance - Municipal Collection Sites
Ensure that municipal sites which receive Alberta Recycling grants meet or exceed all applicable
environmental standards, consistent with the terms of the funding grant.

Target
1. Work with municipalities and Indigenous communities to register their collection sites for used oil
materials with the program.
2. Develop a template for Municipal Collection Site Requirements for Used Oil Materials Collection
Sites, including program signage, and implement in 2019/20.

Results
1. The forms for collection site requirements and site registration were revised to include the used oil
program and will be distributed in 2019-20 along with new collection site signage.

Goal UO4: There is strong awareness and support for the Used Oil Materials
Recycling Program.
Public, stakeholder and industry awareness and support are critical to the programs.
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Performance Measure UO4.1: Public Awareness and Support
1. An independent research firm will track:
a) Public awareness of the used oil materials recycling program and surcharges, and the
changes in levels of awareness and support over time.
b) Public support for the used oil materials recycling program and the surcharges, and the
changes in levels of support over time.
Target
1. Include the Used Oil Program in the 2019/20 awareness and support survey and establish a baseline
for the Program under Alberta Recycling.

PROGRAM

2018/19 Result

SURCHARGES

Awareness

Support

Awareness

Support

57%

86%

54%

64%

Results
1. The baseline results indicate a strong foundation upon which to build awareness and support for the
used oil program.

Performance Measure UO4.2: Key Stakeholder Support
Key stakeholders are aware of the used oil materials recycling program and the surcharges, and the
levels of awareness increase over time.

Target
1. Employ a set of public information initiatives for key stakeholders such as provincial and municipal
governments, industry and the general public that will include:
a) Distribution of Progress Report (presents highlights of Annual Report);
b) distribution of Municipal Collection Site Newsletter;
c) participation at conferences, tradeshows and community events;
d) 2019 Collection Site Awards of Excellence;
e) regional meetings with municipalities, waste authorities/commissions, and Indigenous
communities;
f) active engagement through digital media.

Results
a) In 2018/19, with the exception of points a) and d) above, the used oil program has been
incorporated in the other communications tools over the last six months to initiate
promotion of the used oil program under the management of Alberta Recycling.
b) To help quantify the results of this goal, a stakeholder satisfaction survey was developed for
implementation in 2019/20.
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CONTRACTS
• Alberta Environment and Parks
• Government of the Northwest
Territories

• Government of Yukon
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Contract with Alberta Environment and Parks
Household Hazardous Waste (HHW)
Under contract with Alberta Environment and Parks, Alberta Recycling administers the Household
Hazardous Waste contract to provide funding to brokers for the transportation of HHW to the Swan Hills
Treatment Centre.

Contract Requirement
1. Administer funding to brokers on a per kilogram basis, for delivery of municipal HHW to the Swan
Hills Treatment Centre for disposal, or on a per can basis, for delivery of aerosol cans to a recycler.
a) Additional funding is paid to brokers for collection of HHW from rural areas.
Municipal HHW delivered to Swan Hills
Treatment Centre for Disposal

2018/19
Result (Kg.)

2017/18
Result (Kg.)

2016/17
Result (Kg.)

Bulked acid liquids

13,625

16,121

14,285

Bulked base liquids

61,592

70,645

60,893

Bulked flammable liquids

103,815

113,766

105,070

Bulked poisonous liquids

197,506

201,682

187,690

376,538

402,214

367,938

352,253

345,828

362,207

728,791

748,042

730,145

2018/19
Result (Kg.)

2017/18
Result (Kg.)

2016/17
Result (Kg.)

Collection of HHW from rural areas

374,696

376,055

373,449

Collection of HHW from urban areas

433,679

447,231

441,400

Aerosol cans recycled

291,050

368,929

220,952

Sub-total bulked liquids
Lab Packs
Total bulked liquids and lab packs
Municipal collection and
aerosol can total

Result
The contract maximum for 2018/19 was $1.5 million; $1.33 million in funding was used to administer
the program during the year.
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Contract with the Government of Northwest Territories (GNWT)
Under contract with the Government of Northwest Territories, Alberta Recycling has administered
environmental fee revenue for the GNWT electronics recycling program since November 2015.

Contract Requirement
1. Contracted services include:
a) Implementing and administering a registration program for Distributors of eligible
electronics.
b) Collecting Environmental Handling Surcharges from Distributors together with applicable
reports and documentation for forwarding to GNWT.
c) Conducting compliance reviews of Distributors on a risk-based sampling process.
d) Reporting quarterly on registration and compliance review progress.
2. Additional services
a) Provide various advisory services as requested e.g. selection of an electronics recycler,
advising on eligible products.
b) Leverage the results of a third-party Supplier Identification Project completed every three
years by Alberta’s electronics program to identify possible Distributors for the GNWT
program. The next project is in 2019/20.

Contract with the Government of Yukon
Under contract with the Yukon Government, Alberta Recycling has administered environmental fee
revenue for the Yukon tire recycling program since October 2018.

Contract Requirement
1. Contracted services include:
a) Implementing and administering a registration program for producers of eligible tires.
b) Collecting surcharges from producers together with applicable reports and documentation
for forwarding to Government of Yukon.
c) Conducting compliance reviews of producers on a risk-based sampling process.
d) Reporting quarterly on registration and compliance review progress.
2. Additional services
a) Provide various advisory services as requested e.g. selection of a tire recycler, advising on
eligible products.
b) Leverage the results of a third-party Supplier Identification Project completed every three
years by Alberta’s tire program to identify possible distributors for the Yukon program. The
next project is in 2020/21.
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Independent Auditor's Report

July 3, 2019
Edmonton, Alberta

To the Members of Alberta Recycling Management Authority
Opinion
We have audited the accompanying combined financial statements of Alberta Recycling
Management Authority (the Authority), which comprise the statement of financial position as at
March 31, 2019 and the statements of revenue and expenditures, changes in net assets and cash
flow for the year ended, and notes to the combined financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, the accompanying combined financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Authority as at March 31, 2019 and the results of its
operations and its cash flow for the year ended March 31, 2019 in accordance with Canadian
accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Authority in
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the combined financial
statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
those requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial
Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these combined financial
statements in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and
for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the combined financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Authority's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends
to liquidate the Authority or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Authority's financial reporting
process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the combined financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these combined financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
·

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the combined financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

·

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Authority’s internal control.

·

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

·

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Authority’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the combined financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Authority to cease to continue as a going concern.

·

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the combined financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the combined financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

·

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the individual
programs within the Authority to express an opinion on the combined financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit

Kingston Ross Pasnak LLP
Chartered Professional Accountants

Statement of Financial Position

ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
For Alberta Recycling's four regulated material programs
March 31, 2019
Electronics
Recycling
Alberta

Paint
Recycling
Alberta

Tire
Recycling
Alberta

Used Oil
Recycling
Alberta

(Note 1)
Sch 1

(Note 1)
Sch 2

(Note 1)
Sch 3

(Note 1)
Sch 4

ASSETS
CURRENT
Cash
Short term investments (Note 4)
Accounts receivable
Interfund receivable (Note 5)
Prepaid expenses

$

LONG TERM INVESTMENTS (Note 6)
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Note 7)

2,058,846
9,062,835
852,075
880,968
64,467

$

711,140
1,081,701
480,536
-

$

2,108,812
4,841,008
2,465,983
3,000

$

528,592
2,466,752
3,962,551
1,796
8,607

12,919,191

2,273,377

9,418,803

6,968,298

83,324,320

-

16,385,990

2,647,355

174,182

-

-

-

$

96,417,693

$

2,273,377

$

25,804,793

$

9,615,653

$

1,107,843

$

466,639

$

2,920,297

$

1,424,246

LIABILITIES AND
NET ASSETS
CURRENT
Payable to recyclers and related
accruals
Accounts payable and accrued
liabilities
Interfund payable (Note 5)

634,214
-

83,935
121,112

42,076
580,522

51,428
149,987

1,742,057

671,686

3,542,895

1,625,661

174,182
94,501,454

1,601,691

22,261,898

7,989,992

94,675,636

1,601,691

22,261,898

7,989,992

COMMITMENTS (Note 9)
EXTERNALLY RESTRICTED
NET ASSETS (Note 10)
Invested in property and equipment
Allocated

$

96,417,693

$

2,273,377

$

25,804,793

$

9,615,653

Basis of presentation (Note 2)
See Schedule 5 for the Household Hazardous Waste contract
APPROVED BY THE BOARD
Director

Director

Statement of Revenue and Expenditures

ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
For Alberta Recycling's four regulated material programs
Year ended March 31, 2019
Electronics
Recycling
Alberta

Paint
Recycling
Alberta

Tire
Recycling
Alberta

Used Oil
Recycling
Alberta

(Note 1)

(Note 1)

(Note 1)

(Note 1)

Sch 1(a)

Sch 2(a)

Sch 3(a)

Sch 4(a)

Recycling revenue
Environmental fees
Less: Import tire agent charges
Interest

$

Total recycling revenue

8,270,437
28,863

$

4,545,271
137,089

$ 25,993,251
(22,584)
318,231

$

7,819,438
-

8,299,300

4,682,360

26,288,898

7,819,438

Recycling incentives

8,956,093

3,943,381

22,746,795

6,659,802

Total recycling expenditures

8,956,093

3,943,381

22,746,795

6,659,802

106,021
107,699
108,042

2,476
24,829
15,422

136,101
120,172
1,015,847

4,546
20,179
-

321,762

42,727

1,272,120

24,725

1,218,045
83,070
409,465
-

346,718
72,011
95,647
-

1,612,888
119,941
527,985
-

147,248
190,758
12,967
131,435
192,382

1,710,580

514,376

2,260,814

674,790

Total program expenditures

10,988,435

4,500,484

26,279,729

7,359,317

Revenue net of program expenditures

(2,689,135)

181,876

9,169

460,121

7,720,341
(2,732,295)

34,140
-

Recycling expenditures

Recycling development and other
Research and development
Public information
Rural Alberta project and municipal grants
Total recycling development and other
Administration
Compensation and professional fees
Contract administration fees
Compliance and assurance
General and administration expenses, including amortization
Program transition expense
Total administration expenditures

Fund Investment
Investment income
Unrealized investment (loss) income
Less:
Investment managers and related expense

(207,765)

Net investment income
Excess of revenues over expenditures
Basis of presentation (Note 2)
See Schedule 5(a) for the Household Hazardous Waste contract

(567)

4,780,281
$

2,091,146

1,371,384
(300,821)
(42,411)

33,573
$

215,449

48,864
82,915
(2,060)

1,028,152
$

1,037,321

129,719
$

589,840

Statement of Changes in Net Assets

ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
For Alberta Recycling's four regulated material programs
Year ended March 31, 2019

Electronics Recycling Alberta
Property
and
equipment

Net assets, beginning of year

$

Allocated

Paint
Recycling
Alberta

Tire
Recycling
Alberta

Used Oil
Recycling
Alberta

Allocated

Allocated

Allocated

(Note 1)

(Note 1)

(Note 1)

(Note 1)

(Note 1)

Sch 1(b)

Sch 1(b)

Sch 2(b)

Sch 3(b)

Sch 4(b)

152,859 $

Excess of revenue over expenditures

-

92,431,631

$

1,386,242

$

21,224,577

$

-

2,091,146

215,449

1,037,321

589,840

Amortization of property and equipment

(91,689)

91,689

-

-

-

Investment in property and equipment
Transfer of used oil recycling program, effective
October 1, 2018 (Note 14)

113,012

(113,012)

-

-

-

-

-

7,400,152

Net assets, end of year

$

174,182 $

Basis of presentation (Note 2)
See Schedule 5(a) for the Household Hazardous Waste contract

94,501,454

$

1,601,691

$

22,261,898

$

7,989,992

Statement of Cash Flow

ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
For Alberta Recycling's four regulated material programs
Year ended March 31, 2019

Electronics
Recycling
Alberta
Cash flow from operating activities

Recycling revenues collected
Program expenditures
Investment income
Investment management costs

$

Cash flow (used by) from investing activities
Investment contributions
Acquisitions of property and equipment

Increase (decrease) in cash position
Cash, beginning of year
Transfer of used oil recycling program, effective October 1, 2018
(Note 14)
Cash, end of year
Basis of presentation (Note 2)
See Schedule 5(b) for the Household Hazardous Waste contract

$

Paint
Recycling
Alberta

Tire
Recycling
Alberta

Used Oil
Recycling
Alberta

(Note 1)

(Note 1)

(Note 1)

(Note 1)

Sch 1(c)

Sch 2(c)

Sch 3(c)

Sch 4(c)

8,214,528 $
(11,069,847)
7,720,341
(207,765)

4,592,011 $
(4,342,191)
34,140
(567)

25,839,507 $
(26,290,172)
1,371,384
(42,411)

8,358,832
(7,412,808)
48,864
(2,060)

4,657,257

283,393

878,308

(3,673,613)
(113,012)

(20,245)
-

191,116
-

(5,031,193)
-

(3,786,625)

(20,245)

191,116

(5,031,193)

870,632
1,188,214

263,148
447,992

1,069,424
1,039,388

(4,038,365)
4,566,957

2,058,846

$

711,140

$

2,108,812

992,828

$

528,592

Notes to the Financial Statements

ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
Year ended March 31, 2019

Note 1
Authority and
Purpose
The Alberta Recycling Management Authority (the “Authority”) is a not-for-profit organization
incorporated under the Societies Act of the Province of Alberta and operates as a delegated
administrative organization (DAO), reporting to the Minister responsible for the administration of the
Designated Material Recycling & Management Regulation AR 93/04 (the "Regulation"). The
Authority has a mandate to establish waste minimization and recycling initiatives and programs in
the Province of Alberta in accordance with sound environmental principles.
The Regulation authorizes the Authority to levy and collect advance disposal surcharges
(environmental fees), which are to be used to provide or pay for any or all of the following but in
respect of that specific designated material only:
–
–
–
–
–

Waste minimization and recycling programs;
Public information programs for the promotion of minimization and recycling programs;
Expenditures on the collection, transportation, storage, processing and disposal of
designated materials;
Research and development activities related to designated materials management;
Promotion of the use of recycled materials and products.

Under the Designation Regulations (AR 95/04), (AR 94/04), (AR 200/07), and (AR 100/18), tires,
electronics, paint and used oil, respectively, have been defined as “designated materials” by the
Government of Alberta. The Regulation has the effect of externally restricting the designated
material reserves.
End-of-Life Electronics
The Authority administers, through Electronics Recycling Alberta, an electronics waste minimization
and recycling program in the Province of Alberta. Electronics Recycling Alberta uses environmental
fees levied on the supply of eligible new electronics in or into Alberta to fund used electronics
recycling initiatives in accordance with the Regulation.
Leftover Paint Material
The Authority administers, through Paint Recycling Alberta, paint waste minimization and recycling
programs in the Province of Alberta. Paint Recycling Alberta uses environmental fees levied on the
supply of eligible paint and paint containers in or into Alberta to fund paint recycling initiatives in
accordance with the Regulation.
Scrap Tires
The Authority administers, through Tire Recycling Alberta, used tire waste minimization and
recycling programs in the Province of Alberta. Tire Recycling Alberta uses environmental fees
levied on the supply of eligible new tires in or into Alberta to fund tire recycling initiatives in
accordance with the Regulation.

Notes to the Financial Statements

ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
Year ended March 31, 2019

Note 1
Authority and
Purpose
continued ...
Used Lubricating Oil Materials
Effective October 1, 2018, the Government of Alberta transferred the management of Alberta's used
oil material recycling program from the Alberta Used Oil Management Association (AUOMA) to the
Authority. See note 14 for more information on the program transfer.
The Authority now administers, through Used Oil Recycling Alberta, used lubricating oil material,
waste minimization and recycling programs in the Province of Alberta. Used Oil Recycling Alberta
uses environmental fees levied on the supply of eligible new oil materials in or into Alberta to fund
used oil material recycling initiatives in accordance with the Regulation.
Household Hazardous Waste
Through a contract with the Province of Alberta, the Authority administers the Province’s Household
Hazardous Waste (“HHW”) Program. The Authority receives government funding restricted for
purposes of carrying out the Household Hazardous Waste Program.
As of the report date, funding for the 2020 fiscal year has not been confirmed. The continued
operations of the Program are dependent on this funding.
The Authority is a not-for-profit association, and accordingly, no provision for corporate income
taxes has been provided in these financial statements pursuant to Section 149(1)(l) of the Income
Tax Act (Canada).

Notes to the Financial Statements

ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
Year ended March 31, 2019

Note 2
Basis of
Presentation
The Authority bases its accounting policies on Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit
organizations, Part III of the CPA Canada Handbook - Accounting. Based on an annual evaluation
of indicators of control, it has been verified that the Authority is not subject to the Public Sector
Accounting Standards Handbook.
The primary financial statements of the Authority present the operations of the Authority's four
regulated programs: Electronics Recycling Alberta, Paint Recycling Alberta, Tire Recycling Alberta
and Used Oil Recycling Alberta. Each program has a separate and distinct purpose and is
governed by its own legislative mandate. The Regulation requires that each program be operated
and funded separately. Use of environmental fee revenue and/or net assets between the programs
is not permitted by the legislation.
Comparative information on a program by program basis for the regulated programs is provided in
Schedules 1, 2, 3 and 4. Schedule 5 presents comparative financial statements for the Household
Hazardous Waste Program which is operated under a contract with the Government of Alberta.
The combined statements of financial position, revenue and expenditures, and changes in net
assets as reported in the financial statements (Schedule 6) have been presented in accordance with
the requirements of Section 4400 of Part III of the CPA Canada Handbook - Accounting, which
requires the presentation of total assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses and net assets for all
programs. Totals contained in Schedule 6 have been provided solely for the purpose of presenting
the overall financial position, results of operations, changes in net assets and cash flow for the
Authority. This presentation is not intended to imply that the assets, liabilities, revenues, expenses
and net assets of each of the programs have been combined or co-mingled. By law, the assets,
liabilities, revenues, expenses and net assets of each program cannot be combined or co-mingled.

Notes to the Financial Statements

ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
Year ended March 31, 2019

Note 3
Significant
Accounting
Policies
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards
for not-for-profit organizations. Significant accounting policies observed in the preparation of the
financial statements are summarized below.
Fund Accounting
The accounts of the Authority are maintained in accordance with the principles of Fund accounting.
The major reserve groupings: Electronics Recycling, Paint Recycling, Tire Recycling, Used Oil
Recycling and Household Hazardous Waste, are described in Note 1. The Authority uses the
restricted fund method of accounting for contributions.
Revenue Recognition
Electronics Recycling Alberta
Revenue from environmental fees on eligible electronics supplied in or into Alberta (including the
city of Lloydminster) is recognized by the Authority at the time the electronics are supplied by a
registered supplier to the customer. The customer is defined as a person or business entity not
registered with Electronics Recycling Alberta or registered as a Payment on Purchase supplier.
Interest income is recognized when earned.
Paint Recycling Alberta
Revenue from environmental fees on eligible paint and paint containers supplied in or into Alberta
(including the city of Lloydminster) is recognized by the Authority at the time the paint is supplied by
a registered supplier to the customer. The customer is defined as a person or business entity not
registered with Paint Recycling Alberta or registered as a Payment on Purchase supplier. Interest
income is recognized when earned.
Tire Recycling Alberta
Revenue from environmental fees on eligible tires supplied in or into Alberta (excluding the city of
Lloydminster) is recognized by the Authority at the time the tires are supplied by a registered
supplier to the customer. The customer is defined as a person or business entity not registered with
Tire Recycling Alberta, or registered as a Payment on Purchase supplier. Interest income is
recognized when earned.

Notes to the Financial Statements

ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
Year ended March 31, 2019

Note 3
Significant
Accounting
Policies
continued. . .
Used Oil Recycling Alberta
Revenue from environmental fees on eligible lubricating oil materials supplied in or into Alberta
(including sales from businesses located in the portion of the City of Lloydminster under the
jurisdiction of the Province of Alberta) is recognized by the Authority at the time the lubricating oil
materials are supplied by a registered supplier to the customer. The customer is defined as a
person or business entity not registered with Used Oil Recycling Alberta, or a registered business
where all surcharges are reported and paid to Used Oil Recycling Alberta by their suppliers.
Household Hazardous Waste Program
The Authority uses the restricted fund method of accounting for revenue from government
contracts, whereby contract revenue is recognized by the Authority in the appropriate reserve when
approved. Amounts agreed to or contractually required to be repaid are recognized as a reduction
to approved revenue once known.
Investments
Investments are recorded at market value. The Authority's short term investments consist of money
market securities and bonds while the long-term investments consist of bonds and fixed income
and Canadian and global equities. This policy of recording at market value will generate unrealized
gains and losses on investments and are separately identified on the Statement of Revenue and
Expenditures. The portfolio is held primarily for trading purposes. The portfolio is managed by
third party investment managers and is subject to an investment policy set by the Board with the
main objective of capital preservation.
Property and Equipment
Amortization is recorded on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives or current lease
terms of the assets as follows:
Years
Computer equipment and software
3
Furniture and fixtures
5
Communications equipment
5
Leasehold improvements
lease term

Notes to the Financial Statements

ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
Year ended March 31, 2019

Note 3
Significant
Accounting
Policies
continued. . .
To simplify the maintenance and tracking of property and equipment, all property and equipment
are recognized as part of the net assets of Electronics Recycling Alberta. Consequently, all
purchases and disposals are recorded under one program. Monthly amortization and gains/losses
on disposals are recognized in each of the programs with reimbursements made from the other
programs to Electronics Recycling Alberta for their portion of these charges. In this manner, the full
costs of property and equipment are allocated to each of the programs based on the formula
prescribed by the Board of Directors (Note 11).
Financial Instruments
All financial instruments are initially measured at fair value, and, unless otherwise noted, the
Authority subsequently measures its financial instruments at amortized cost.
Measurement Uncertainty
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian accounting standards for notfor-profit organizations requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Significant management
estimates pertain to the collectability of environmental fees, related accounts receivable, return
incentives paid for ineligible containers in the Used Oil program (note 12) and the estimated useful
lives of property and equipment.
The Authority identifies new suppliers, as well as reviewing electronics, paint, tires and lubricating
oil material sales volumes from existing suppliers, through its compliance review activity. Any
amendments arising from these reviews are recorded by the Authority as adjustments to revenue in
the current period in which the amendments are made. The revenues reported represent fees
collected and management’s best estimate of uncollected revenue.
Due to the inherent
uncertainties in the industry reporting, there may be adjustments in future periods and such
adjustments may be material to the financial position of the Authority.
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ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
Year ended March 31, 2019

Note 4
Short Term
Investments
Short term investments are comprised of Money Market securities and bonds, and a guaranteed
investment certificate (GIC):

Electronics Recycling Alberta
Paint Recycling Alberta
Tire Recycling Alberta
Used Oil Recycling Alberta

2019

2018

$ 9,062,835
$ 1,081,701
$ 4,841,008
$ 2,466,752

$ 6,972,372
$ 1,061,456
$ 5,418,081
$
-

The bond coupon rates range from 2.98% to 4.10%, and mature between May 7, 2019 and December
18, 2019. The guaranteed investment certificate bears interest at 2.30% and matures on February 1,
2020.
Note 5
Interfund
Balances
The Authority incurs common expenses that are attributable to the various programs that the
Authority administers. For administrative purposes these shared expenses are allocated to each
program. Allocation of shared expenses is performed monthly using allocation formulas as
prescribed by the Board of Directors (Note 11).
At year-end, the following amounts represent the interfund accounts receivable and accounts
payable and accrued liabilities of the programs administered by the Authority:
Accounts
Accounts
Receivable
Payable
Electronics Recycling Alberta
Paint Recycling Alberta
Tire Recycling Alberta
Used Oil Recycling Alberta
Household Hazardous Waste Program
Paint Recycling Alberta
Electronics Recycling Alberta
Tire Recycling Alberta
Electronics Recycling Alberta
Used Oil Recycling Alberta
Used Oil Recycling Alberta
Electronics Recycling Alberta
Tire Recycling Alberta
Household Hazardous Waste Program
Electronics Recycling Alberta

$
$
$
$

121,112
578,726
149,987
31,143

$
$
$
$

-

$

-

$

121,112

$
$

-

$
$

578,726
1,796

$
$

1,796

$
$

149,987
-

$

-

$

31,143

Notes to the Financial Statements

ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
Year ended March 31, 2019

Note 6
Long Term
Investments
Long term investments consist of:
Electronics Recycling Alberta
2019

Bonds and fixed income
Balanced fund
Canadian equities
Global equities

2018

Cost

Market Value

Cost

Market Value

$ 49,576,063
12,272,880
13,902,407

$ 51,180,616
15,838,272
16,305,432

$ 44,849,737
12,722,118
12,087,614
4,630,019

$ 45,113,664
16,377,731
15,961,759
7,020,312

$ 75,751,350

$ 83,324,320

$ 74,289,488

$ 84,473,466

Tire Recycling Alberta
2019

Bonds and fixed income
Balanced fund
Canadian equities
Global equities

2018

Cost

Market Value

Cost

Market Value

$ 9,900,279
2,573,681
2,862,422

$ 10,029,510
3,123,697
3,232,783

$ 9,082,243
2,578,604
2,459,819
872,774

$ 8,940,914
3,067,882
3,006,071
1,285,988

$ 15,336,382

$ 16,385,990

$ 14,993,440

$ 16,300,855

Used Oil Recycling Alberta
2019

Bonds and fixed income
Canadian equities
Global equities

Cost

Market Value

$ 1,809,013
402,801
352,627

$ 1,853,556
420,819
372,980

$ 2,564,441

$ 2,647,355

The bond coupon rates range from 1.60% - 4.00% and mature from June 4, 2020 to March 15, 2028.
Further information on the investment policy is provided in Note 3.

Notes to the Financial Statements

ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
Year ended March 31, 2019

Note 7
Property and
Equipment
Electronics Recycling Alberta
2019

Cost
Computer equipment and software
Furniture and fixtures
Communications equipment
Leasehold improvements

$

2018

Accumulated
Amortization

Net Book
Value

Net Book
Value

704,476
297,700
12,533
17,956

$

564,694
263,693
12,140
17,956

$

139,782
34,007
393
-

$

96,511
53,448
2,900
-

$ 1,032,665

$

858,483

$

174,182

$

152,859

Amortization provided for in the current year total $91,689; (2018 - $101,536).
All property and equipment transferred to the Authority from AUOMA with the October 1, 2018
transfer of the Used Oil program held a $nil net book value.

Notes to the Financial Statements

ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
Year ended March 31, 2019

Note 8
Compensation
As required under the Designated Material Recycling and Management Regulation (AR 93/04),
Section 16(2) and Section 16(3), the remuneration and benefits paid to all members of the Board of
Directors (on an individual basis by name) and remuneration and benefits paid to all management
personnel who report directly to one or more members of the Board of Directors (on an aggregate
basis) are as follows:
Board of Directors' Honoraria
Ms. Caroline McAuley (Board Chair since January 14, 2018)
Mr. Robert Barss (Board Chair until January 13, 2018)
Ms. Lis Anderson (since May 11, 2017)
Mr. Jeffrey Dirks (until April 19, 2018)
Mr. Jeff Faber
Mr. John Graham (since February 2, 2018)
Ms. Cathy Heron
Mr. Patrick Kane
Mr. Al Kemmere (since December 19, 2017)
Mr. Brent Kennedy
Ms. Carolyn Kolebaba (until December 18, 2017)
Mr. Joseph Kostler
Mr. Raymond Massey (until July 5, 2017)
Mr. Lanny McInnes (until April 10, 2017)
Mr. David Schaaf (since November 20, 2018)
Ms. Leah Seabrook (until November 20, 2018)
Ms. Rachelle Venne (since February 1, 2019)
Mr. Lee Wilkie (since October 1, 2018)
Mr. Ian Young (since October 22, 2018)

2019
$

Board of Directors' Benefits

60,519
11,162
3,950
7,325
6,325
6,463
3,550
1,100
2,912

2018
$

12,300
50,350
3,325
7,138
4,350
1,175
4,600
4,375
6,106
3,525
-

22,624

13,246

Subtotal

125,930

110,490

Chief Executive Officer Salary
Benefits

181,985
23,684

189,208
24,727

Subtotal

205,669

213,935

Total

$

331,599

$

324,425

Notes to the Financial Statements

ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
Year ended March 31, 2019

Note 9
Commitments
The Authority has leased office space to October 31, 2025, leased equipment expiring between
September 30, 2019 and May 31, 2021, and contracts expiring between June 30, 2019 and August
31, 2020. The approximate minimum payments required under the lease agreements in future
years are as follows:
Rent
Equipment
Contracts
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter

$

297,865
273,687
275,222
275,222
275,222
435,767

$

26,992
6,153
-

$

441,416
135,195
-

$ 1,832,985

$

33,145

$

576,611

Rental expense for the year is allocated to each of the five programs under the Authority’s
administration based on a formula prescribed by the Board of Directors (Note 11).
The transfer of the Used Oil Recycling program from AUOMA to the Authority effective October 1,
2018 included several commitments made by AUOMA prior to the transfer date. These
commitments are included in the approximate minimum payments above and include leased office
space to June 30, 2020, leased equipment expiring between July 31, 2019 and March 31, 2020, and
contracts expiring August 31, 2020. The approximate minimum payments required under the
agreements in future years are as follows:
Rent
2020
2021

Equipment

Contracts

$

44,229
11,057

$

2,016
-

$

324,468
135,195

$

55,286

$

2,016

$

459,663

Notes to the Financial Statements

ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
Year ended March 31, 2019

Note 10
Externally Restricted
Net Assets
All the net assets of the Authority are externally restricted as stipulated in the Regulation (Note 1)
and are maintained for purposes set out in the Regulation.
The Authority’s allocated net assets represent those net assets not invested in property and
equipment. These net assets represent environmental fees collected on products sold which are in
excess of incentives paid for products discarded into the program and recycled, plus investment
earnings on these fees. The Authority’s net assets are to be used for the purposes set out in the
Regulation. They are managed in such a manner that they provide for reserve amounts that are
sufficient to ensure the ongoing sustainability of the recycling programs or sufficient to allow for the
event of cancellation of the program’s environmental fees and the resulting windup of the program.

Notes to the Financial Statements

ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
Year ended March 31, 2019

Note 11
Allocation of
Expenses
Included in administration expenses of $4,903,234 (2018 - $4,691,006) are costs that have been
allocated proportionately as determined by the Board of Directors on an annual basis. Costs that
can be directly attributed to the individual programs have been allocated to the specific program.
Electronics
Recycling
Alberta
2019
2018

Paint
Recycling
Alberta

39%
39%

Tire
Recycling
Alberta

9%
9%

49%
50%

Household
Hazardous
Waste
3%
2%

With the transfer of the Used Oil recycling program from AUOMA to the Authority effective October
1, 2018, the allocation formulas for some expenditures shifted during fiscal 2019. Different
allocation formulas are used for expenditures where the Used Oil program carried existing
commitments from before the program transfer (e.g. rent) and for expenditures where separate
costs for the Used Oil program have been eliminated and replaced with joint costs benefiting all
programs (e.g. website costs). Over time as pre-transfer commitments under the Used Oil program
are eliminated, the need for different allocations formulas will be eliminated.

Electronics
Recycling
Alberta

Paint
Recycling
Alberta

Tire
Recycling
Alberta

Used Oil
Recycling
Alberta

Household
Hazardous
Waste

Expenses
allocated to
legacy programs

39%

9%

49%

0%

3%

Expenses
allocated to all
programs

29%

7%

37%

25%

2%

Notes to the Financial Statements

ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
Year ended March 31, 2019

Note 12
Ineligible
Containers
The return incentive (recycling incentive) paid for used oil containers may include payment for
ineligible containers from related products such as windshield washer fluid, engine coolants, and
fuel or oil additives. Containers for these products are currently excluded from the regulation
governing the Used Oil materials program.
Since these containers are generally made of the same plastic as used oil containers, there is
limited economic or environmental benefit in separating these containers from the used oil
container waste stream. There are also additional costs related to segregating these materials. On
account of these factors, the Board of Directors of AUOMA historically elected not to strictly enforce
the removal of these containers in return incentive payments. With the program transfer from
AUOMA to the Authority effective October 1, 2018, the Authority elected not to make changes to
AUOMA's historical policy during the period covered by these financial statements.
Based on studies performed by independent consultants, AUOMA determined that the percentage
of ineligible containers is approximately 21% by weight. This percentage is used to estimate the
amount spent on ineligible plastics. The estimated amount is $387,000 for the six months ended
March 31, 2019.

Notes to the Financial Statements

ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
Year ended March 31, 2019

Note 13
Financial
Instruments
The Authority is exposed to various risks through its financial instruments. The following analysis
provides information about the Authority's risk exposure and concentration as of March 31, 2019.
Unless otherwise noted, the Authority's risk exposure has not changed from the prior year.
Credit risk
Credit risk arises from the potential that tire, electronics, paint or used oil suppliers will fail to
perform their respective obligations. The Authority is exposed to credit risk from these suppliers.
However, the Authority has a large number of suppliers, which minimizes the concentration of credit
risk. Management monitors its accounts receivable regularly and provides for any amounts that are
not collectible in the allowance for doubtful accounts.
Currency risk
The Authority has investments that are denominated in foreign currencies and is therefore exposed
to currency risk. The Authority’s earnings are exposed to financial risk that arises from fluctuations
in foreign exchange rates and the degree of the volatility of these rates. As at March 31, 2019
foreign denominated investments amounted to $6,450,949 (5.73%) of the Authority’s total short and
long term investments. The Authority does not use derivative or other financial instruments to
reduce its exposure to foreign currency risk.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument might be adversely affected by a
change in the interest rates. The Authority is exposed to interest rate risk primarily through its floating
interest rate money market securities, bonds, and fixed income investments.

Notes to the Financial Statements

ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
Year ended March 31, 2019

Note 14
Used Oil Material
Recycling Program
Transfer
On October 1, 2018, the Government of Alberta transferred the management of Alberta's used oil
material recycling program to the Authority. This program was previously managed by the Alberta
Used Oil Management Association (AUOMA).
The Government's decision to transfer the program arose from the review of agencies, boards, and
commissions, the purpose of which was to improve the services and ensure value for Albertans.
Their review of the recycling management boards concluded that it would strengthen recycling work
in the province to consolidate the used oil materials recycling program under one management
board.
The Authority's multi-material mandate was therefore expanded to include the recycling programs
for tire, electronics, paint and used oil materials.
The Alberta used oil material recycling program was established by the Government of Alberta in
1997 to ensure that Albertans have access to convenient and cost-effective opportunities to recycle
their used lubricating (e.g. automotive) oil, oil filters, and oil containers.
The Authority's 2018/19 audited financial statements therefore report on the operations of
Electronics, Tires, Paint (and the Household Hazardous Waste contract), with the addition of a
partial year of operations for the Used Oil program.
The October 1, 2018 opening balance figures for the Used Oil program have been provided in the
program financial statements in Schedule 4 and represent the balances transferred from AUOMA to
the Authority. These October 1, 2018 opening balances for Used Oil Recycling Alberta have been
audited by another auditor and confirmed to agree with the closing balances of the audited AUOMA
financial statements as at September 30, 2018.
Note 15
Budget Information
The Authority prepares annual operating budgets for each of the recycling programs (Note 1).
Budget information, where prepared, is included for information purposes and is unaudited.

Schedule 1

Statement of Financial Position

Electronics Recycling Alberta
ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
March 31, 2019
2019

2018

$ 2,058,846
9,062,835
852,075
880,968
64,467

$ 1,188,214
6,972,372
768,992
740,400
42,063

12,919,191

9,712,041

83,324,320

84,473,466

174,182

152,859

$ 96,417,693

$ 94,338,366

$ 1,107,843
634,214

$ 1,229,566
524,310

1,742,057

1,753,876

174,182
94,501,454

152,859
92,431,631

94,675,636

92,584,490

$ 96,417,693

$ 94,338,366

ASSETS
CURRENT
Cash
Short term investments (Note 4)
Accounts receivable
Interfund receivable (Note 5)
Prepaid expenses

LONG TERM INVESTMENTS (Note 6)
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Note 7)

LIABILITIES AND
NET ASSETS
CURRENT
Payable to recyclers and related accruals
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

COMMITMENTS (Note 9)
EXTERNALLY RESTRICTED NET ASSETS (Note 10)
Invested in property and equipment
Allocated

Basis of presentation (Note 2)

Schedule 1(a) Statement of Revenue and Expenditures

Electronics Recycling Alberta
ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
Year ended March 31, 2019

2019 Budget
Unaudited

2019
Actual

2018
Actual

$ 7,783,945
8,000

$ 8,270,437
28,863

$ 8,007,730
19,777

7,791,945

8,299,300

8,027,507

Recycling expenditures
Recycling incentives

11,542,453

8,956,093

10,445,389

Total recycling expenditures

11,542,453

8,956,093

10,445,389

Recycling development and other
Research and development
Public information
Rural Alberta project and municipal grants

1,077,500
132,204
330,790

106,021
107,699
108,042

180,330
85,034
108,398

Total recycling development and other

1,540,494

321,762

373,762

Administration
Compensation and professional fees
Compliance and assurance
General and administration expense, including amortization

1,413,980
190,876
448,943

1,218,045
83,070
409,465

1,239,142
103,094
398,152

Total administration expenditures

2,053,799

1,710,580

1,740,388

Total program expenditures

15,136,746

10,988,435

12,559,539

Revenue net of program expenditure

(7,344,801)

(2,689,135)

(4,532,032)

2,521,285
-

7,720,341
(2,732,295)

4,075,395
(1,493,318)

-

(207,765)

(219,425)

Recycling revenue
Environmental fees
Interest
Total recycling revenue

Fund Investment
Investment income
Unrealized investment loss
Less:
Investment managers and related expense
Net investment income
Excess (deficit) of revenue over expenditures
Basis of presentation (Note 2)

2,521,285
$ (4,823,516)

4,780,281
$ 2,091,146

2,362,652
$ (2,169,380)

Schedule 1(b) Statement of Changes in Net Assets

Electronics Recycling Alberta
ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
Year ended March 31, 2019
2019
Property
and
Equipment
Net assets, beginning of year

$

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
expenditures

2018

Allocated

152,859

$

-

92,431,631

Total
$

Total

92,584,490

2,091,146

2,091,146

$

94,753,870
(2,169,380)

Amortization of property and equipment

(91,689)

91,689

-

-

Investment in property and equipment

113,012

(113,012)

-

-

Net assets, end of year

Basis of presentation (Note 2)

$

174,182

$

94,501,454

$

94,675,636

$

92,584,490

Schedule 1(c) Statement of Cash Flow

Electronics Recycling Alberta
ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
Year ended March 31, 2019
2019
Cash flow from (used by) operating activities
Recycling revenues collected
Program expenditures
Investment income
Investment management costs

Cash flow (used by) from investing activities
Investment (contributions) proceeds
Acquisitions of property and equipment

Increase in cash position
Cash, beginning of year
Cash, end of year
Basis of presentation (Note 2)

$ 8,214,528
(11,069,847)
7,720,341
(207,765)

2018
$ 7,942,695
(12,894,390)
4,075,395
(219,425)

4,657,257

(1,095,725)

(3,673,613)
(113,012)

1,650,966
(96,201)

(3,786,625)

1,554,765

870,632
1,188,214

459,040
729,174

$ 2,058,846

$ 1,188,214

Schedule 2

Statement of Financial Position

Paint Recycling Alberta
ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
March 31, 2019
2019

2018

ASSETS
CURRENT
Cash
Short term investments (Note 4)
Accounts receivable

$

711,140
1,081,701
480,536

$

447,992
1,061,456
390,187

$ 2,273,377

$ 1,899,635

$

$

LIABILITIES AND
NET ASSETS
CURRENT
Payable to recyclers and related accruals
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Interfund payable (Note 5)

466,639
83,935
121,112

317,511
62,093
133,789

671,686

513,393

1,601,691

1,386,242

1,601,691

1,386,242

$ 2,273,377

$ 1,899,635

COMMITMENTS (Note 9)
EXTERNALLY RESTRICTED NET ASSETS (Note 10)
Allocated

Basis of presentation (Note 2)

Schedule 2(a) Statement of Revenue and Expenditures

Paint Recycling Alberta
ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
Year ended March 31, 2019
2019 Budget
Unaudited

2019
Actual

2018
Actual

$ 4,260,555
12,000

$ 4,545,271
137,089

$ 4,380,524
24,920

Total recycling revenue

4,272,555

4,682,360

4,405,444

Recycling expenditures
Recycling incentives

3,981,735

3,943,381

3,828,260

Total recycling expenditures

3,981,735

3,943,381

3,828,260

45,000
45,674
39,720

2,476
24,829
15,422

4,267
25,106
14,593

Total recycling development and other

130,394

42,727

43,966

Administration
Compensation and professional fees
Compliance and assurance
General and administration expenses, including amortization

386,847
85,477
107,671

346,718
72,011
95,647

369,709
18,664
100,123

Total administration expenditures

579,995

514,376

488,496

4,692,124

4,500,484

4,360,722

181,876

44,722

Recycling revenue
Environmental fees
Interest

Recycling development and other
Research and development
Public information
Rural Alberta project and municipal grants

Total program expenditures
Revenue net of program expenditures

(419,569)

Fund Investment
Investment income
Investment managers and related expense

10,000
-

34,140
(567)

19,723
(526)

Net investment income

10,000

33,573

19,197

Excess of revenue over expenditures
Basis of presentation (Note 2)

$

(409,569)

$

215,449

$

63,919

Schedule 2(b) Statement of Changes in Net Assets

Paint Recycling Alberta
ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
Year ended March 31, 2019
2019
Allocated
Net assets, beginning of year
Excess of revenues over expenditures
Net assets, end of year

Basis of presentation (Note 2)

2018
Total

Total

$ 1,386,242

$ 1,386,242

$ 1,322,323

215,449

215,449

63,919

$ 1,601,691

$ 1,601,691

$ 1,386,242

Schedule 2(c) Statement of Cash Flow

Paint Recycling Alberta
ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
Year ended March 31, 2019
2019
Cash flow from (used by) operating activities
Recycling revenues collected
Program expenditures
Investment income
Investment management costs

$ 4,592,011
(4,342,191)
34,140
(567)

2018
$ 4,403,095
(4,469,312)
19,723
(526)

283,393
Cash flow used by investing activities
Investment contributions

Increase (decrease) in cash position
Cash, beginning of year
Cash, end of year
Basis of presentation (Note 2)

$

(47,020)

(20,245)

(1,061,456)

(20,245)

(1,061,456)

263,148
447,992

(1,108,476)
1,556,468

711,140

$

447,992

Schedule 3

Statement of Financial Position

Tire Recycling Alberta
ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
March 31, 2019
2019

2018

$ 2,108,812
4,841,008
2,465,983
3,000

$ 1,039,388
5,418,081
2,016,609
-

9,418,803

8,474,078

ASSETS
CURRENT
Cash
Short term investments (Note 4)
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses

LONG TERM INVESTMENTS (Note 6)

16,385,990

16,300,855

$ 25,804,793

$ 24,774,933

$ 2,920,297
42,076
580,522

$ 2,806,851
156,063
587,442

3,542,895

3,550,356

22,261,898

21,224,577

22,261,898

21,224,577

$ 25,804,793

$ 24,774,933

LIABILITIES AND
NET ASSETS
CURRENT
Payable to recyclers and related accruals
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Interfund payable (Note 5)

COMMITMENTS (Note 9)
EXTERNALLY RESTRICTED NET ASSETS (Note 10)
Allocated

Basis of presentation (Note 2)

Schedule 3(a) Statement of Revenue and Expenditures

Tire Recycling Alberta
ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
Year ended March 31, 2019
2019 Budget
Unaudited

2019
Actual

2018
Actual

Recycling revenue
Environmental fees
Less: Import tire agent charges
Interest

$ 26,702,851
(27,662)
49,000

$ 25,993,251
(22,584)
318,231

$ 25,027,840
(23,344)
104,320

Total recycling revenue

26,724,189

26,288,898

25,108,816

Recycling expenditures
Recycling incentives

23,620,693

22,746,795

21,020,758

Total recycling expenditures

23,620,693

22,746,795

21,020,758

Recycling development and other
Research and development
Public information
Rural Alberta project and municipal grants

287,000
170,319
1,219,900

136,101
120,172
1,015,847

73,911
104,882
1,151,717

Total recycling development and other

1,677,219

1,272,120

1,330,510

Administration
Compensation and professional fees
Compliance and assurance
General and administration expenses, including amortization

1,783,079
96,742
564,782

1,612,888
119,941
527,985

1,606,638
113,387
657,130

Total administration expenditures

2,444,603

2,260,814

2,377,155

Total program expenditures

27,742,515

26,279,729

24,728,423

Revenue net of program expenditures

(1,018,326)

9,169

380,393

Fund Investment
Investment income
Unrealized investment loss
Less:
Investment managers and related expense
Net investment income
Excess of revenue over expenditures
Basis of presentation (Note 2)

290,095
-

1,371,384
(300,821)

827,669
(268,069)

-

(42,411)

(43,399)

290,095
$

(728,231)

1,028,152
$ 1,037,321

516,201
$

896,594

Schedule 3(b) Statement of Changes in Net Assets

Tire Recycling Alberta
ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
Year ended March 31, 2019
2019

Net assets, beginning of year
Excess of revenues over expenditures
Net assets, end of year

Basis of presentation (Note 2)

2018

Allocated

Total

Total

$ 21,224,577

$ 21,224,577

$ 20,327,983

1,037,321

1,037,321

896,594

$ 22,261,898

$ 22,261,898

$ 21,224,577

Schedule 3(c) Statement of Cash Flow

Tire Recycling Alberta
ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
Year ended March 31, 2019

2019
Cash flow from operating activities
Recycling revenue collected
Program expenditures
Investment income
Investment management costs

Cash flow from (used by) investing activities
Investment proceeds (contributions)

Increase in cash position
Cash, beginning of year
Cash, end of year
Basis of presentation (Note 2)

$ 25,839,507
(26,290,172)
1,371,384
(42,411)

2018
$ 24,958,555
(25,037,210)
827,669
(43,399)

878,308

705,615

191,116

(409,813)

191,116

(409,813)

1,069,424
1,039,388

295,802
743,586

$ 2,108,812

$ 1,039,388

Schedule 4

Statement of Financial Position

Used Oil Recycling Alberta
ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
March 31, 2019

2019

October 1,
2018
(Note 14)

528,592
2,466,752
3,962,551
1,796
8,607

$ 4,566,957
4,543,413
6,594

6,968,298

9,116,964

2,647,355

-

$ 9,615,653

$ 9,116,964

$ 1,424,246
51,428
149,987

$ 1,622,784
94,028
-

1,625,661

1,716,812

7,989,992

7,400,152

$ 9,615,653

$ 9,116,964

ASSETS
CURRENT
Cash
Short term investments (Note 4)
Accounts receivable
Interfund receivable (Note 5)
Prepaid expenses

LONG TERM INVESTMENTS (Note 6)

$

LIABILITIES AND
NET ASSETS
CURRENT
Payable to recyclers and related accruals
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Interfund payable (Note 5)

COMMITMENTS (Note 9)
EXTERNALLY RESTRICTED NET ASSETS (Note 10)
Allocated

Basis of presentation (Note 2)

Schedule 4(a) Statement of Revenue and Expenditures

Used Oil Recycling Alberta
ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
Six month period ended March 31, 2019
2019 Budget
Unaudited

2019
Actual

$ 7,894,661

$ 7,819,438

Total recycling revenue

7,894,661

7,819,438

Recycling expenditures
Recycling incentives

7,222,870

6,659,802

Total recycling expenditures

7,222,870

6,659,802

Recycling development and other
Research and development
Public information

21,500
37,500

4,546
20,179

Total recycling development and other

59,000

24,725

Administration
Compensation and professional fees
Contract administration fees
Compliance and assurance
General and administration expenses, including amortization
Program transition expense

96,000
276,000
52,000
225,487
-

147,248
190,758
12,967
131,435
192,382

Total administration expenditures

649,487

674,790

7,931,357

7,359,317

Recycling revenue
Environmental fees

Total program expenditures
Revenue net of program expenditures

(36,696)

Fund Investment
Investment income
Unrealized investment gain
Investment managers and related expense

20,000
-

Net investment income

20,000

Excess of revenues over expenditures
Basis of presentation (Note 2)

$

(16,696)

460,121

48,864
82,915
(2,060)
129,719
$

589,840

Schedule 4(b) Statement of Changes in Net Assets

Used Oil Recycling Alberta
ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
Six month period ended March 31, 2019
October 1,
2018
(Note 14)

2019

Net assets, as of October 1, 2018 program transfer
Excess of revenues over expenditures
Net assets, end of year

Basis of presentation (Note 2)

Allocated

Total

Total

$ 7,400,152

$ 7,400,152

$ 7,400,152

589,840

589,840

-

$ 7,989,992

$ 7,989,992

$ 7,400,152

Schedule 4(c) Statement of Cash Flow

Used Oil Recycling Alberta
ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
Six month period ended March 31, 2019
2019
Cash flow from operating activities
Recycling revenue collected
Program expenditures
Investment income
Investment management costs

$ 8,358,832
(7,412,808)
48,864
(2,060)
992,828

Cash flow used by investing activities
Investment contributions

(5,031,193)
(5,031,193)

Decrease in cash position
Cash, opening balance as at October 1, 2018 program transfer
Cash, end of year
Basis of presentation (Note 2)

(4,038,365)
4,566,957
$

528,592

Schedule 5

Statement of Financial Position

Household Hazardous Waste
ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
March 31, 2019
2019

2018

ASSETS
CURRENT
Cash
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses

$

242,776
75,000
6,085

$

264,924
-

$

323,861

$

264,924

$

108,829
182,878
31,143

$

98,467
146,277
19,169

LIABILITIES AND
NET ASSETS
CURRENT
Payable to recyclers and related accruals
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Interfund payable (Note 5)

322,850

263,913

1,011

1,011

COMMITMENTS (Note 9)
EXTERNALLY RESTRICTED NET ASSETS (Note 10)
Allocated
$
Basis of presentation (Note 2)

323,861

$

264,924

Schedule 5(a) Statement of Revenue and Expenditures and Changes in Net Assets

Household Hazardous Waste
ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
Year ended March 31, 2019
2019 Budget
Unaudited

2019
Actual

2018
Actual

Government contract
Interest

$ 1,500,000
1,400

$ 1,328,500
6,728

$ 1,359,256
2,404

Total recycling revenue

1,501,400

1,335,228

1,361,660

Recycling expenditures
Broker contracts

1,311,574

1,183,509

1,251,981

Total recycling expenditures

1,311,574

1,183,509

1,251,981

Recycling revenue

Recycling development and other
Public information
Rural Alberta project and municipal grants

.
40,000

294
25,611

190
24,522

Total recycling development and other

40,000

25,905

24,712

Administration
Compensation and professional fees
General and administration expenses, including amortization

104,199
44,278

86,114
39,700

56,527
28,440

Total administration expenditures

148,477

125,814

84,967

1,500,051

1,335,228

1,361,660

Excess of revenues over expenditures

1,349

-

-

Net assets, beginning of year

1,011

1,011

1,011

Total program expenditures

Net assets, end of year
Basis of presentation (Note 2)

$

2,360

$

1,011

$

1,011

Schedule 5(b) Statement of Cash Flow

Household Hazardous Waste
ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
Year ended March 31, 2019
2019
Cash flow used by operating activities
Government contracts received
Program expenditures
Other income

$ 1,253,500
(1,282,376)
6,728

$ 1,359,256
(1,515,750)
2,404

(22,148)

(154,090)

(22,148)
264,924

(154,090)
419,014

Decrease in cash position
Cash, beginning of year
Cash, end of year
Basis of presentation (Note 2)

2018

$

242,776

$

264,924

Schedule 6

Combined Statement of Financial Position

ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
Includes Alberta Recycling's four regulated material programs and the Household Hazardous Waste contract
March 31, 2019

2019

2018

ASSETS
CURRENT
Cash
Short term investments (Note 4)
Accounts receivable
Interfund receivable (Note 5)
Prepaid expenses

$

5,650,166
17,452,296
7,836,145
882,764
82,159

$

2,940,518
13,451,909
3,175,788
740,400
42,063

31,903,530

20,350,678

102,357,665

100,774,321

174,182

152,859

$ 134,435,377

$ 121,277,858

$

$

LONG TERM INVESTMENTS (Note 6)
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT (Note 7)

LIABILITIES
AND NET
ASSETS
CURRENT
Payable to recyclers and related accruals
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Interfund payable (Note 5)

6,027,854
994,531
882,764

4,452,395
888,743
740,400

7,905,149

6,081,538

174,182
126,356,046

152,859
115,043,461

126,530,228

115,196,320

$ 134,435,377

$ 121,277,858

COMMITMENTS (Note 9)
EXTERNALLY RESTRICTED NET ASSETS (Note 10)
Invested in property and equipment
Allocated

Basis of presentation (Note 2)

Schedule 6(a) Combined Statement of Revenue and Expenditures

ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
Includes Alberta Recycling's four regulated material programs and the Household Hazardous Waste contract
Year ended March 31, 2019
2019

2018

Recycling revenue
Environmental fees
Less: Import tire agent charges
Government contract - Household Hazardous Waste
Interest

$ 46,628,397
(22,584)
1,328,500
490,911

$ 37,416,094
(23,344)
1,359,256
151,421

Total recycling revenue

48,425,224

38,903,427

Recycling expenditures
Recycling incentives
Broker contracts - Household Hazardous Waste

42,306,071
1,183,509

35,294,407
1,251,981

Total recycling expenditures

43,489,580

36,546,388

Recycling development and other
Research and development
Public information
Rural Alberta project and municipal grants

249,144
273,173
1,164,922

258,508
215,212
1,299,230

Total recycling development and other

1,687,239

1,772,950

Administration
Compensation and professional fees
Contract administration fees
Compliance and assurance
General and administration expenses, including amortization
Program transition expense (used oil)

3,411,013
190,758
287,989
1,204,232
192,382

3,272,016
235,145
1,183,845
-

Total administration expenditures

5,286,374

4,691,006

Total program expenditures

50,463,193

43,010,344

Revenue net of program expenditures

(2,037,969)

(4,106,917)

Fund Investment
Investment income
Unrealized investment loss
Less: Investment managers and related expense

9,174,729
(2,950,201)
(252,803)

4,922,787
(1,761,387)
(263,350)

5,971,725

2,898,050

Net investment income
Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenditures before used oil program
transfer
Used oil program transfer, effective October 1, 2018
Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenditures
Basis of presentation (Note 2)

$ 3,933,756
7,400,152
$ 11,333,908

$ (1,208,867)
$ (1,208,867)

Schedule 6(b) Combined Statement of Changes in Net Assets

ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
Includes Alberta Recycling's four regulated material programs and the Household Hazardous Waste contract
Year ended March 31, 2019
2019
Property
and
Equipment
Net assets, beginning of year
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
expenditures before used oil transfer
Used Oil program transfer, effective October 1,
2018

$

2018

Allocated

Total

Total

152,859

$115,043,461

$115,196,320

$116,405,187

-

3,933,756

3,933,756

-

7,400,152

7,400,152

-

(1,208,867)

Amortization of property and equipment

(91,689)

91,689

-

-

Investment in property and equipment

113,012

(113,012)

-

-

Net assets, end of year
Basis of presentation (Note 2)

$

174,182

$126,356,046

$126,530,228

$115,196,320

Schedule 6(c) Combined Statement of Cash Flow

ALBERTA RECYCLING MANAGEMENT AUTHORITY
Includes Alberta Recycling's four regulated material programs and the Household Hazardous Waste contract
Year ended March 31, 2019
2019
Cash flow from (used by) operating activities
Recycling revenue collected
Government contracts received - Household Hazardous Waste
Program expenditures
Investment income
Investment management costs
Other income

Cash flow (used by) from investing activities
Investment (contributions) proceeds
Acquisitions of property and equipment

Decrease in cash position
Cash, beginning of year
Transfer of used oil recycling program, effective October 1, 2018
Cash, end of year
Basis of presentation (Note 2)

$ 47,004,878
1,253,500
(50,397,394)
9,174,729
(252,803)
6,728

2018
$ 37,304,345
1,359,256
(43,916,662)
4,922,787
(263,350)
2,404

6,789,638

(591,220)

(8,533,935)
(113,012)

179,697
(96,201)

(8,646,947)

83,496

(1,857,309)
2,940,518
4,566,957
$ 5,650,166

(507,724)
3,448,242
$ 2,940,518

